学位論文 Doctoral Thesis

Regulation of bipotential state of hemogenic endothelial cells by CXCR4 signaling (造血性内皮細胞における二分化能の CXCR4 シグナルによる調節)

アハメド タンジル AHMED TANZIR

熊本大学大学院医学教育部博士課程医学専攻 発生・再生医学研究者育成コース

指導教員

小川 峰太郎 教授 熊本大学大学院医学教育部博士課程医学専攻組織幹細胞学

2016年9月

Contents

			Page
1.	Abstra	act	1 - 2
2.	List of publications		3
3.	Ackno	4	
4.	Abbreviations		5 - 6
5.	Backg	round and objective	7 - 22
	5.1.	Hematopoiesis	7
	5.1.1.	Primitive hematopoiesis	7
	5.1.2.	Definitive hematopoiesis	7
	5.2.	Development of hematopoietic stem cells	9
	5.2.1.	Site of hematopoietic stem cell emergence	9
	5.2.2.	Markers of emerging hematopoietic stem cells	10
	5.3.	Cellular origin of hematopoietic system	11
	5.3.1.	Hemangioblast	11
	5.3.2.	Hemogenic endothelial cell	13
	5.3.3.	Hemogenic endothelial origin of hematopoietic stem cells	13
	5.4.	Hemogenic endothelial cell specification and regulation	15
	5.4.1.	Specification of hemogenic endothelial cells	15
	5.4.2.	Regulation of hemogenic endothelial cells to produce HSCs	17
	5.5.	Embryonic stem cells	19
	5.5.1.	Proliferation of embryonic stem cells maintaining pluripotency in	19
		culture	
	5.5.2.	Differentiation of embryonic stem cells in culture	19
	5.6.	In-vitro generation of hemogenic endothelial cells	20
	5.7	Objective of this study	21
6.	Mater	ials and Methods	23 - 26
	6.1.	Cell lines	23
	6.2.	Mouse	23
	6.3.	Growth factors and inhibitors	23
	6.4.	Antibodies	24
	6.5.	In vitro differentiation of ESCs	24
	6.6.	In vitro differentiation into hematopoietic cells	24
	6.7.	Cell sorting	24
	6.8.	Determination of progenitor frequencies	25
	6.9.	Immunohistochemistry	25

	6.10.	Immunofluorescence	25
	6.11.	Determination of CXCL12 level by ELISA	25
	6.12.	Gene expression analysis	26
	6.13	Statistical analysis	26
7.	Result	ts	27 - 46
	7.1.	ESC-derived VE-cadherin ⁺ CD41 ⁺ cells have definitive hematopoietic	27
		potential	
	7.2.	VE-cadherin ⁺ CD41 ⁺ cells contain bipotential progenitors of	31
		hematopoietic and endothelial cells	
	7.3.	CXCR4 signal modulates the bipotential state of VE-cadherin ⁺ CD41 ⁺	37
		cells	
	7.4.	Bipotential progenitors are less frequent in mouse embryos	43
8.	Discus	ssion	47 - 52
9.	Concl	uding remarks	53
10.	. References		

List of figures

		Page
Figure 1	Hematopoiesis during murine embryonic development	8
Figure 2	Hematopoietic organs in developing murine embryo	10
Figure 3	Cellular origins of hematopoietic development	12
Figure 4	Hemogenic endothelial cells undergo transition to produce HSCs	14
Figure 5	Kinetics of ESC-derived VE-cadherin ⁺ CD41 ⁺ cells	28
Figure 6	Hematopoietic and endothelial potential of ESC-derived VE-	29 - 30
	cadherin ⁺ CD41 ⁺ and VE-cadherin ⁺ CD41 ⁻ cells	
Figure 7	Expression of transcription factors in ESC-derived VE-	31
	cadherin ⁺ CD41 ⁺ and VE-cadherin ⁺ CD41 ⁻ cells	
Figure 8	ESC-derived VE-cadherin ⁺ CD41 ⁺ cells contain bipotential	33
	hemogenic endothelial progenitors	
Figure 9	VE-cadherin and CD41 expression on the bipotential progenitors	35
Figure 10	Kinetics of emergence of HC colonies from VE-cadherin ⁺ CD41 ⁺	36
	cells	
Figure 11	Bipotential hemogenic endothelial cells express CXCR4	37
Figure 12	CXCR4 signaling reduces the frequency of bipotential progenitors	39
Figure 13	Effects of modulating CXCR4 signaling on ESC differentiation and	40
	EC potential	
Figure 14	Effects of antagonizing CXCR4 signaling on ESC differentiation	42
Figure 15	Bipotential progenitors are not detected in the E10.5 embryos	43 - 44
Figure 16	Bipotential progenitors are not detected in the yolk sac populations	45 - 46
Figure 17	A model of cell fate control in the bipotential hemogenic endothelial	50
	cells	

List of tables

		Page
Table 1	Summary of hematopoietic stem cell markers in developing murine	11
	embryo	
Table 2	Summary of signaling pathways and molecules involved in	16 - 17
	specification of hemogenic endothelial cells from vascular endothelial	
	cells	
Table 3	List of PCR primers	26
Table 4	Progenitor frequencies in the cell populations derived from ES cells	32
Table 5	Frequency of brachyury expression	34
Table 6	Progenitor frequencies in the cell populations isolated from embryos	44

1. Abstract

Background and objective: The origin of hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) is considered to be hemogenic endothelial cells (HECs) located in the aorta-gonad-mesonephros (AGM) region. HECs have been identified in differentiating embryonic stem cells (ESCs) as VE-cadherin⁺ cells with both hematopoietic and endothelial potential in single cells (bipotential). Although the bipotential state of HECs is critical for fate determination toward HSCs, the molecular basis of the regulation of the bipotential state has not been well understood. In this study, I sought to identify an enriched ESC derived HEC population and investigated their regulatory mechanism.

Methods: KTPU8 ESCs were co-cultured with OP9 stromal cells to induce differentiation of CD45⁻ CD31⁺ VE-cadherin⁺ endothelial cells (ECs). ECs are then separated based on CD41 surface expression and tested for their hematopoietic and endothelial differentiation potential and transcription factor expressions. Single cell analysis was done to check the bipotential progenitors. CXCL12 was added during the ESC culture period to evaluate the effect of CXCR4 signaling. Embryonic equivalent populations were also investigated from single cell suspension of lower trunk of embryo proper and yolk sacs of E8.5-E10.5 murine embryos.

Results: I found that CD41⁺ fraction of CD45⁻ CD31⁺ VE-cadherin⁺ ECs from ESCs encompasses an enriched HEC population. The CD41⁺ ECs contained progenitors for both ECs and hematopoietic cells (HCs) at a high frequency. Expression of hematopoietic transcription factors, Runx1 and Tal1, and endothelial transcription factors, Etv2 and Sox17, in the CD41⁺ ECs indicated the hemogenic endothelial nature. Clonal analyses of cell differentiation confirmed that one out of five HC progenitors in the CD41⁺ ECs possessed the bipotential state that led also to EC colony formation. A phenotypically identical cell population was found in mouse embryos, although the potential was more biased to hematopoietic fate with rare bipotential progenitors. ESC-derived bipotential HECs were further enriched in the CD41⁺ CXCR4⁺ subpopulation. Stimulation with CXCL12 during the generation of CD41⁺ CXCR4⁺ cells reduced the frequency of bipotential progenitors by suppressing the EC potential.

Conclusion: The results in the current study suggest that CXCL12/CXCR4 signaling negatively regulates the bipotential state of HECs independently of the hematopoietic fate. Identification of signaling molecules controlling the bipotential state is crucial to modulate the HEC differentiation and to induce HSCs from ESCs.

Key Words: Mouse embryonic stem cells, Hemogenic endothelial cells, CXCR4 receptor, CXCL12 chemokine, CD41 antigen, VE-cadherin.

2. List of publications

1. Tanzir Ahmed, Kiyomi Tsuji-Tamura, and Minetaro Ogawa. "CXCR4 Signaling Negatively Modulates the Bipotential State of Hemogenic Endothelial Cells Derived from Embryonic Stem Cells by Attenuating the Endothelial Potential." *Stem Cells*, 2016. doi:10.1002/stem.2441.

3. Acknowledgements

First I would like to express my heartfelt gratitude and sincere respect to my supervisor and mentor Dr. Minetaro Ogawa, Professor, Department of Cell Differentiation, Institute of Molecular Embryology and Genetics, Kumamoto University, for giving me a chance to work in his laboratory. I thank him for his profound supervision, priceless suggestions, guidance and encouragement throughout my PhD study. Being a foreign student, I could not have survived in a new environment and completed my study without Professor Ogawa's kindest support. I am truly grateful to him for introducing me in the exciting field of stem cell research. I am thankful for his intellectual guidance in publishing my study results in a scientific journal and preparation of my dissertation.

I also like to express my sincere gratitude to Dr. Kiyomi Tsuji-Tamura, Assistant Professor Department of Cell Differentiation for teaching me key techniques and for her advice, help, kind comments and suggestions.

I would like to thank Dr. Hiroshi Sakamoto for his advice and thoughtful comments on many different occasions. I also thank Dr. Saeka Hirota for her cooperation and help. I like to thank all the present and past members of Department of Cell Differentiation for their support, help and cooperation during my study.

I would also like to thank Dr. Takashi Seki and other members of the Liaison Laboratory Research Promotion center for their technical help and suggestions.

I would like to express my gratitude to Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology (MEXT), Japan for granting me the scholarship to do my PhD work smoothly in Japan.

Finally, I would like to sincerely thank my parents, other family members and friends for being on my side and for providing continuous encouragement.

This dissertation is based on the article published in *Stem Cells* as; Ahmed, T., Tsuji-Tamura, K., Ogawa, M., "CXCR4 Signaling Negatively Modulates the Bipotential State of Hemogenic Endothelial Cells Derived from Embryonic Stem Cells by Attenuating the Endothelial Potential." *Stem Cells*, 2016. doi:10.1002/stem.2441. Copyright © 1999-2016 John Wiley & Sons, Inc. ©AlphaMed Press 1066-5099/2016.

4. Abbreviations

HSC	Hematopoietic stem cell
HEC	Hemogenic endothelial cell
ESC	Embryonic stem cell
EC	Endothelial cell
НС	Hematopoietic cell
Е	Embryonic day
AGM	Aorta-gonad-mesonephros
EMP	Erythroid and Myeloid progenitor
pSP	Para-aortic-splanchnopleura
EHT	Endothelial-to-hematopoietic transition
EB	Embryoid body
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
FACS	Fluorescence-activated cell sorting
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
mAb	Monoclonal antibody
Etv2	ets variant 2
Sox17	SRY (sex determining region Y)-box 17
Foxc2	Forkhead box protein C2
Coup TFII	COUP transcription factor 2 / NR2F2 (nuclear receptor subfamily 2,
	group F 2
Runx1/AML1	Runt-related transcription factor 1 / acute myeloid leukemia 1
	protein (AML1) / core-binding factor subunit alpha-2 (CBFA2)
Tal1	T-cell acute lymphocytic leukemia protein 1
HoxA3	Homeobox protein Hox-A3
GATA	GATA-binding factor
Myb	Transcriptional activator Myb
LIF	Leukemia inhibitory factor
IL	Interleukin
G-CSF	Granulocyte colony-stimulating factor
Flt3	FMS-like tyrosine kinase 3
SCF	Stem cell factor
CXCR4	CXC chemokine receptor 4

CXCL12	CXC chemokine ligand 12
Raldh	Retinaldehyde dehydrogenase
Bry	Brachyury
Sca1	Stem cell antigen 1
cKit	tyrosine-protein kinase Kit/CD117
CD	Cluster of differentiation
CD45	CD45 / Protein tyrosine phosphatase, receptor type, C
CD31	CD31 / Platelet endothelial cell adhesion molecule (PECAM-1)
CD41	CD41 / Integrin alpha-IIb
CD34	Hematopoietic progenitor cell antigen CD34
CD19	B-lymphocyte antigen CD19
CD150	CD150 / Signaling lymphocytic activation molecule 1
CD48/BLAST1	CD48 / B-lymphocyte activation marker / signaling lymphocytic
	activation molecule 2 (SLAMF2)
CD11b	CD11b / Integrin alpha M
VE-cadherin	Cadherin 5, type 2 or (vascular endothelial cadherin)
Flk1/KDR/VEGFR-2	Fetal Liver Kinase 1 / Kinase insert domain receptor / vascular
	endothelial growth factor receptor 2
Gr1	GR1 / Myeloid Differentiation Antigen, Ly-6G
TER119	TER119 / Erythroid cell marker, Ly-7
B220	CD45R (CD45 isoform B220)
AA4.1	CD93 / Early B cell antigen AA4.1
SEM	Mean standard error

5. Background and objective

5.1. Hematopoiesis

Hematopoiesis is the process of production of all types of blood cells. The hematopoietic system is one of the earliest tissues to develop during vertebrate development. Hematopoiesis occurs in two sequential programs: the primitive (pre-circulation) hematopoiesis and the definitive hematopoiesis (Galloway and Zon, 2003).

5.1.1. Primitive hematopoiesis

In murine embryos, the first blood cells are originated from the extra-embryonic mesoderm at around embryonic day (E) 7.0 (Figure 1). Primitive hematopoiesis spans from E7 to E9 and is marked by appearance of nucleated erythroid progenitors in blood islands of extra-embryonic yolk sac (Yoder, 2014). These erythroid progenitors are known as primitive erythoblasts and are functionally and morphologically distinct from mature erythroid progenitors. Primitive erythoblasts are large, nucleated and express embryonic globins. They are exclusively detected in the extra-embryonic yolk sac for a short time period (~48 hours) before disappearing. Primitive hematopoietic program also involves the emergence of some primitive or embryonic macrophages and megakaryocytes. Some of these embryonic macrophages can persist as tissue-resident macrophage populations in the later developmental stages (Palis et al., 1999; Yoder, 2014; Schulz et al., 2012). Primitive hematopoiesis does not produce lymphoid cells or HSCs and thus serves as a source of primary red blood cells that facilitates tissue oxygenation during the early rapid development of the embryo (Palis and Yoder, 2001).

5.1.2. Definitive hematopoiesis

The second phase is the definitive hematopoiesis, which is subdivided into two waves. First of these waves begins on E8.25 with erythroid and myeloid progenitors (EMP) production (Figure 1). EMPs emerge from the vascular endothelial cells of the blood island capillaries of the yolk sac as a cluster of cells. Cells then detach from the capillaries to enter in the systemic circulation and seed in the fetal liver at around E10 (Palis et al., 1999; Palis et al., 2001; McGrath et al., 2003). During this wave B and T lymphoid progenitors also start to develop in the intra and extra-embryonic regions. *De novo* EMPs and lymphoid progenitor generation occurs in the yolk sac, chorio-allantoic/placenta and the intra-embryonic region around the aorta (Yoshimoto et al., 2012). Although this early wave of definitive hematopoiesis does not produce HSCs, it is considered as definitive program because the

EMPs differentiate into HC lineages with adult-type features and functions (Swiers et al., 2013; Yoder, 2014).



Figure 1: Hematopoiesis during murine embryonic development

Hematopoietic development occurs in two sequential but overlapping programs. Primitive hematopoiesis is transient. It starts at E7.0 and produces primitive erythroid progenitors, embryonic macrophages and megakaryocytes in the yolk sac blood island. The definitive hematopoietic program also starts with a transient wave at E8.5. It produces multi-potent and lineage restricted hematopoietic cells with adult-type morphology. This wave continues through E9.0, when lymphocytes emerge in the yolk sac and AGM region. The next and final wave is responsible for producing definitive HSCs starting at E10.5 of embryonic development. Simultaneous production of EMPs and lymphoid progenitors continues from the yolk sac and AGM region.

Following and final wave of definitive hematopoiesis begins at E10.5 and is marked by the emergence of long-term self-renewing HSCs in the AGM region of the embryo proper (Figure 1, Medvinsky and Dzierzak, 1996). HSCs also appear in other arterial vessels of the embryo, yolk sac and placenta from E11.5 (Kumaravelu et al., 2002; Gekas et al., 2005). Despite the AGM region being the source, differentiation of HSCs do not occur there. These AGM and yolk sac HSCs and other hematopoietic progenitor cells then migrate and colonize other sites of definitive hematopoiesis, the fetal liver by E11.5 - E12.5 and the bone marrow at E16.5 and contribute to the population of long term repopulating HSCs (Medvinsky et al., 1993; Morrison et al., 1995; Coşkun et al., 2014).

5.2. Development of hematopoietic stem cells

More than ten distinct mature cell types compose the adult hematopoietic system. All these diverse types of HCs are based on one specific cell type i.e., hematopoietic stem cell. Within the system, only HSCs possess the two unique capabilities, multipotency and self-renewal. For HSCs, multi-potency is the ability to differentiate into all functional blood cell types, while self-renewal is the ability to replicate into identical daughter HSCs without undergoing differentiation (Seita and Weissman, 2010).

5.2.1. Site of hematopoietic stem cell emergence

During the murine embryo development, yolk sac produces the first primitive erythrocytes that enter in the circulation and later the definitive EMP and lymphoid progenitors that migrate to the liver (Figure 2). These EMPs can be first identified by expression of CD41 and cKit and later upon maturation they express the pan-hematopoietic marker CD45 (Mikkola et al., 2003). Despite all the plentiful production of hematopoietic progenitors in the yolk sac, there is no convincing evidence of it also being a site for HSC emergence. Explant culture studies showed that early yolk sac explant was devoid of the potential to generate long-term HSCs (Cumano et al., 2001; Medvinsky and Dzierzak, 1996).

The first evidence of embryo proper being the source of HSCs was shown by grafting quail embryos on chicken yolk sac (Dieterlen-Lievre, 1975). It revealed that cells colonizing on the resulting chimeras were embryo derived. Subsequently, intra-embryonic generation of HSCs has been shown conserved among multiple species (Jaffredo et al., 2005). In mice, the region of the embryo proper is first entitled as para-aortic-splanchnopleura (pSP). pSP develop from the lateral plate mesoderm, which is a caudal part of the E8.0 mouse embryo that contains the dorsal aorta, omphalomesenteric artery, gut and splanchnopleural lining. Part of the pSP later becomes the AGM region (Figure 2). Although hematopoietic progenitors were present in the AGM region from E8.5, functional HSCs arise only from E10.5 onward (Jaffredo et al., 2005; Medvinsky and Dzierzak, 1996; Medvinsky et al., 2011). Intra-embryonic origin of HSCs was established when culturing E8.5 pSP region of the pre-circulation embryos (E8.5) as whole tissue explant successfully generated long term HSCs.

Most of the reports now suggest that pSP-AGM region is the initial site of HSC emergence although the subsequent migration and maturation process is essential for the HSCs to acquire self-renewal and reconstitution abilities (Cumano et al., 2001).



Figure 2: Hematopoietic organs in developing murine embryo

An illustration of hematopoietic organs at E11.0 [Adapted from Mikkola and Orkin, 2006]. Yellow color represents yolk sac; red shows fetal lever; blue is for placental vasculature and green color is representing dorsal aorta.

5.2.2. Markers of emerging hematopoietic stem cells

There is no specific marker that is exclusively expressed by HSCs. The development of HSCs is marked by sets of several combinations of surface markers during the embryonic development. CD41 is known to mark hematopoietic commitment of progenitors and is transiently expressed on the nascent HSCs. Mature HSCs lose CD41 expression (Mikkola et al., 2003; Matsubara et al., 2005). Contrariwise, the pan hematopoietic marker CD45 is not expressed on immature HSCs till E11.5 (Matsubara et al., 2005). Sca1 (Ly6a) also follow similar trend and up-regulated around day 11.5 (De Brujin et al., 2002). The EC associated marker VE-cadherin (cadherin 5) is on the other hand expressed transiently on the emerging HSCs and disappeared from the adult HSC surface (Taoudi et al., 2005). CD31 (Pecam 1), CD34, c-Kit and endomucin are consistently expressed on the HSCs (Matsubara et al., 2005, Mikkola et al., 2006). Table 1 represents a list of markers to identify emerging HSCs along the mouse embryonic development stages.

Embryonic day	Marker
E10.5	CD45 ⁻ , VE-cadherin ⁺ , CD41 ⁺ , Runx1 ⁺ , CD34 ⁺ , CD31 ⁺ , c-Kit ⁺ , Sca1 ⁻ ,
	AA4.1 ⁺ , Endomucin ⁺
E10.5 - E12.5	CD45 ⁺ , VE-cadherin ⁺ , CD41 ^{+/-} , Runx1 ⁺ , CD34 ⁺ , CD31 ⁺ , c-Kit ⁺ , Sca1 ^{+/-} ,
	AA4.1 ⁺ , Endomucin ⁺
E11.0 – E16.5	CD45 ⁺ , VE-cadherin ^{+/-} , Runx1 ⁺ , CD34 ⁺ , CD31 ⁺ , c-Kit ⁺ , Sca1 ⁺ , AA4.1 ⁺ ,
	Endomucin ⁺ , CD150 ⁺ , CD48 ⁻
Adult HSC	CD45 ⁺ , Runx1 ⁺ , CD34 ⁺ , CD31 ⁺ , c-Kit ⁺ , Sca1 ^{+/-} , Endomucin ⁺ , AA4.1 ⁺ ,
	CD150 ⁺ , CD48 ⁻

Table 1: Summary of hematopoietic stem cell markers in developing murine embryo

(Ref: Morrison et al., 1995; Okuda et al., 1996; Toudi et al., 2005; De brujin et al., 2002; Mikkola et al., 2003; Matsubara et al., 2005; North et al., 2002; Fehling et al., 2003; Kiel et al., 2005; Chung et al., 2002; Fraser et al., 2002; Bertrand et al., 2005; Ogawa et al., 2001)

5.3. Cellular origin of hematopoietic system

The shared surface markers and the close association of the developing endothelial and hematopoietic lineages have long been observed. Although there have been a lot of effort, the precise cellular origin of HCs is still not completely agreed among researchers. The common precursor of endothelial and hematopoietic lineages was first proposed and termed "hemangioblast" nearly a century ago. Hemangioblast was referred to the mesodermal mass of cells that later emerged into blood island of chick yolk sac (Murray, 1932). Other observations suggested the "hemogenic endothelium", which are specialized subset of ECs i.e., HECs give rise to HCs (Nishikawa et al., 1998b). The co-expression of EC markers on the HC clusters associated with the EC lining of major vessels further suggested a common developmental origin of these two lineages (Jaffredo et al., 2005).

5.3.1. Hemangioblast

Hemangioblasts are defined as the multipotent precursor cells that can differentiate into both hematopoietic and endothelial cells. Due to lack a of specific marker and the fewness of such cells, identification of histological observations and immuno-staining in the embryo was not successful in the earlier studies. The first experimental evidence of the hemangioblast was shown in the mouse ESC culture. ESC derived blast colony forming cells (BL-CFC) were identified as the clonal precursor of HCs and ECs (Choi et al., 1998). During ESC culture, primitive streak mesoderm first arises, which is marked by brachyury (Bry) expression (Figure 3A). This is followed by production of extra-embryonic mesoderm, which is marked by an upregulation of Flk1 expression and onset of EC specification. Mesoderm derived hemangioblast progenitors express both brachyury and Flk1. Recent reports suggested that Flk1⁺ hemangioblast first produced the hemogenic endothelium, which then produce CD41 and CD45 expressing hematopoietic cells (Figure 3A; Lancrin et al., 2009; Eilken et al., 2009).



Figure 3: Cellular origins of hematopoietic development

(A) ESC differentiation produces mesoderm derived Bry⁺Flk1⁺ hemangioblasts. Hemangioblast is capable of generating endothelial and hematopoietic lineages through intermediate HEC stage. (B) Hemangioblasts arise in the primitive strike of murine embryo and then produces HCs and ECs, which later colonize in the yolk sac. (C) Hematopoietic clusters appear from HECs in the wall of major vessels. HCs bud off to enter into the bloodstream inside of the lumen.

Hemagioblast was identified *in vivo* within the posterior primitive streak in the mouse embryo, localized to the gastrulating posterior mesoderm at E7.5. The hemangioblast is equivalent to *in vitro* BL-CFCs and associated with primitive hematopoiesis in the yolk sac. However they could also give rise to smooth muscle cell along with ECs and HCs (Figure 3B; Huber et al., 2004).

5.3.2. Hemogenic endothelial cell

The longstanding idea of hemogenic endothelium suggests that a subset of ECs undergo endothelial-to hematopoietic transition (EHT) to produce hematopoietic cell (HC) lineages. *In vivo* labeling of chick dorsal aorta first experimentally supported this idea, which indicated that hematopoietic cells derive from aortic endothelium (Jaffredo et al., 1998). Other studies in mouse systems also reported the potential of *in vitro* and *in vivo* derived VE-cadherin⁺ ECs to produce hematopoietic lineages (Nishikawa et al., 1998a; Nishikawa et al., 1998b; Ogawa et al., 1999). Strong support in favor of endothelial origin of hematopoietic cells came from the time lapse imaging of live cultures that visualized real time transformation of EC to HCs in the live culture. By tracking morphologically defined immunophenotypic mouse ESC derived EC colonies, it was demonstrated that, in some of the EC colonies, cells begin to express CD41 and then go on to differentiate in CD41⁺CD45⁺ HCs. However, some EC colonies may not undergo EHT and maintained their EC characteristics suggesting that hemogenic endothelium retain their EC potential and can also contribute to structural endothelium (Eilken et al., 2009).

The hemangioblast should not be confused with HECs. Although hemangioblasts are by definition, bipotential progenitors of HCs and ECs, their potential is not confined for only these two lineages. The Bry⁺Flk1⁺ hemangioblast cells have also been shown to produce cardiac, skeletal and vascular smooth muscle cells (Motoike et al., 2003; Huber et al., 2004). Hemangioblasts are mesodermal precursor population, which is more associated with yolk sac primitive hematopoiesis. In contrast, HECs are characteristically ECs with the potential to undergo EHT. HECs are associated with AGM hematopoiesis and have shown to produce HSCs.

5.3.3. Hemogenic endothelial origin of hematopoietic stem cells

Many studies now suggest that the origin of HSCs is the HECs of the aortic endothelium. Linage tracing study during early mouse development stages tracked progeny of VE-cadherin⁺ cells by induced VE-cadherin-specific Cre-mediated labeling showed that a portion of adult hematopoietic cells from all hematopoietic lineages was labeled (Zovein et al., 2008). This indicates that their precursor had undergone a hemogenic endothelial stage. Another study opted targeted Cre-mediated deletion of Runx1, which is an essential transcription factor for definitive hematopoietic development in VE-cadherin⁺ cells (Chen et al., 2009). This conditional deletion of Runx1 in VE-cadherin⁺ cells resulted in complete ablation of clonogenic progenitors and HSC formation. In contrast, in Vav-cre mice, in which Runx1 was specifically deleted in the hematopoietic lineages, HSCs were still present. They

suggested that Runx1 deficiency blocks EHT but not the downstream events. Both of these studies solidified the support of the endothelial origin of HSCs.

While it is well accepted that adult HSCs are generated through an EHT event, the locations of the specialized HECs remained unclear. Live imaging technique in the aortic region of zebrafish embryos at different time points of embryonic development showed that hematopoietic cells emerge from the ventral endothelial cells of the dorsal aorta. Studies used transgenic reporter Flk1, cMyb, CD41 and Runx1 embryos and showed that HSCs bud in the sub-aortic mesenchyme and later released in the circulation through the adjacent axial vein (Bertrand et al., 2010; Kissa and Herbomel, 2010; Lam et al., 2010). HECs bend of the aortic endothelium and change their shape to round up and subsequently detach from the neighboring ECs. These studies clearly showed that in the zebrafish embryos, HSCs emerge from the HECs located in the ventral part of the dorsal aorta.



Figure 4. Hemogenic endothelial cells undergo transition to produce HSCs

A schematic representation of a cross section of E10.5 mouse AGM region with the ventral wall of the dorsal aorta boxed and magnified. HC cluster round up and bud out from the HECs (pink) of the dorsal aorta. HCs (red) and HSCs (yellow) are released into the lumen. Non-hemogenic ECs are portrayed gray.

Morphological evidence of hemogenic endothelial origin of HSCs in mouse embryos came from the study of Boisset et al. They used an explant culture of embryo slices of E10.5 mouse AGM region and performed continuous confocal imaging of this samples. Using transgenic embryos expressing GFP under the control of the promoter of HSC marker Ly6A (Sca1) and staining for CD31, they showed real-time observation of the emergence of CD31⁺Sca1⁺ HSCs from the ventral endothelial cells of the dorsal aorta (Figure 3). HECs round up and bud off the adjacent ECs of the ventral wall and newly formed HSC released into the lumen of the aorta (Boisset et al., 2010).

Recently, an HEC population (CD45⁻VE-cadherin⁺CD41^{lo} i.e., pre-HSCs) has been shown to be able to generate repopulating HSCs (CD45⁺VE-cadherin⁺CD41⁺) in an *ex-vivo* co-aggregation culture (Rybstov et al., 2011). Altogether, these studies strongly suggest the HEC origin of HSCs.

5.4. Hemogenic endothelial cell specification and regulation: current understandings

Despite many studies investigated the localization of the HECs, there is no definitive single marker or set of markers are known to distinguish HECs from non-hemogenic ECs. Several studies have taken different approaches to elucidate the phenotypic identity of HECs. Isolated E9.5 mouse VE-cadherin⁺ cell fraction co-expressing EC markers CD34, CD31 and Flk1, have been shown as hemogenic endothelium with functional capability to produce HCs (Nishikawa et al., 1998b). Alpha4-intregin (α 4-integrin) has been shown as distinctive marker between hemogenic and non-hemogenic VE-cadherin⁺ cell fraction (Ogawa et al., 1999). Critical role of SCL has been shown to retain hemogenic capability for HECs (Van Handel et al., 2012).

5.4.1. Specification of hemogenic endothelial cells

The molecular mechanisms that govern the specification of HECs from nonhemogenic vascular endothelium are little known. A summary of molecular signals that are currently known to be involved in HEC specification is summarized in Table 2.

 Table 2: Summary of signaling pathways and molecules involved in specification of

 hemogenic endothelial cells from vascular endothelial cells

Molecular signals	Role
Retinoic acid	Retinoic acid signaling is known to regulate endothelial cell specification
signaling	and development in mice. Retinaldehyde dehydrogenase 2 mutant
	(Raldh ^{-/-}) embryos exhibit abnormal vasculogenesis (Lai et al., 2003).
	Raldh null embryos were also shown to have a defect in definitive
	hematopoiesis due to abnormal HEC development although with intact
	primitive hematopoiesis. Retinoic acid signaling found critical for both
	yolk sac and AGM hematopoiesis as in both tissues most of the ECs with
	active retinoic acid signaling possessed HEC characteristics (Chanda et
	al., 2013).
c-Kit	c-Kit is a receptor tyrosine kinase for Stem cell factor (SCF). c-Kit is an
	HSC marker and has been shown important for renewal of hematopoietic
	progenitors (Ogawa et al., 1991). SCF/c-Kit interaction is necessary for
	definitive hematopoietic development and c-Kit mutations have shown to
	disrupt HSC development (Mercello et al., 2013; Sattler and Salgia,
	2004). c-Kit signaling thus play important but not clearly defined role in
	HEC specification.
Notch signaling	Notch signaling pathway is well known for its involvement in cell fate
	control and differentiation of ECs and HCs. There are four Notch family
	of receptors (Notch 1-4) and five ligands (DLL1, 3, 4 and Jag 1 and 2).
	EC specific receptor Notch 1 and 4 null embryos showed abnormal
	vascular development. Chemical inhibitors of Notch caused suppressed
	HEC specification in the yolk sac. Notch 1 is specifically expressed in
	the ventral wall of the dorsal aorta and AGM Notch1 ^{-/-} showed decreased
	hematopoietic potential. Again, Notch1 induced ESC differentiated to
	more VE-cadherin ⁺ HECs with high HC potential. Notch signaling is
	suggested to have biphasic effect i.e., controlling both the HEC
	specification and the EHT event. Other studies also suggested the critical
	role of Notch signaling in HEC specification and function (Mercello et
	al., 2013; Jang et al., 2015).
Cell cycle	p27 is a cell cycle inhibitor which arrests cell cycle in the G1 phase.
control/p27	Rescue experiments showed that p27 could rescue the endothelial cell
	cycle, HEC specification and the generation of HSCs during hampered
	retinoic acid and Notch signaling. The mechanism of p27 is suggested to

have downstream of these signaling pathways. There p27 help ECs maintain the bi-potent stage by regulating hemogenic genes and/or altering cell cycle to allow hemogenic transcriptional regulator to function on ECs to become HECs (Mercello et al., 2013).

5.4.2. Regulation of hemogenic endothelial cells to undergo EHT

It is suggested that within the AGM region, emergence of HSC from HECs is a hub of interplay among master transcriptional regulators, their downstream effectors and the extrinsic modifiers of signaling cascades. These activities create a hematopoietic microenvironment or niche, which promote the HSC development from HECs through the EHT. Transcription factors Runx1 and SCL is among the best known transcription factors essential for EHT. Other transcription factors involved in EHT include Hoxa3, Sox17, Etv2 GATA2 and cMyb. The brief roles of the known regulators and signaling pathways are:

Runx1: Transcription factor Runx1 has been focus of large amount of research due to its pivotal role in EHT. Mesenchymal cells in the dorsal aorta in the AGM region, placenta, hematopoietic clusters of the ventral wall of dorsal aorta and vitelline and umbilical arteries express Runx1. Runx1 expression is critical for normal definitive hematopoietic development but not required during primitive hematopoiesis or after EHT (Chen et al., 2009). Runx1 deletion does not prevent the emergence of the CD41 marker on VE-cadherin⁺CD45⁻ cells but it prevents the transition of these cells to CD41⁺CD45⁺ cells (Liakhovitskaia et al., 2014). Runx1 has been shown to suppress the endothelial program while activating hematopoietic program as evidenced by sequential emergence of CD41 and CD45 (Lancrin et al., 2009). Runx1 target genes Gfi1/Gfi1b were shown to down-regulate expression of endothelial genes in Runx1-null hemogenic endothelium, thereby promoting a morphological change from flattened EC to round cells (Lancrin et al., 2012). Collectively the evidences now strongly suggest that Runx1 is a critical regulator of HECs to HSC formation.

HoxA3: Hemogenic potential of the ECs is associated with a balance of Runx1 and HoxA3 expression within the endothelium of the dorsal aorta. HoxA3 down-regulation is correlated with the onset of Runx1 in these cells. Conversely re-expression of HoxA3 reactivates and maintains EC program in the HECs (Iacovino et al., 2011).

Sox17: Sox17 is a transcription factor expressed in the AGM HECs and has been implicated in the downstream of HoxA3 (Iacovino et al., 2011). Sox17 is critically required for the

generation of fetal HSCs but not adult HSCs. Sox17 deletion using VE-cadherin-cre or Tie2cre mice resulted in embryonic lethality. Sox17 overexpression has been shown to down modulate EC markers and expand hemogenic characteristics (Clarke et al., 2015).

SCL: The transcription factor SCL is critically required for HECs to establish. SCL functions upstream of the Runx1. SCL loss of function studies showed an initiation of cardiac program in the yolk sac, indicating SCL role on suppressing cardiac fate. (Lancrin et al., 2009; Van Handel et al., 2012).

Etv2: The transcription factor Etv2 has been reported to mark an enriched population of hemogenic endothelium in both ESC culture and gastrulating embryos. Etv2 is expressed in Tie2⁺cKit⁺ HECs, rapidly up-regulate CD41 expression and down-regulate EC markers and generate definitive HC progenitors (Wareing et al., 2012).

GATA2: GATA2 is expressed in the pSP/AGM region of the mouse embryo. GATA2 deficient mice die at E10.5 due to defective hematopoiesis. Conditional deletion of a Gata2 cis-regulatory element in the AGM region has been shown to block HSC emergence by reducing the expression of SCL and Runx1, which leads to embryonic lethality around E13.0-14.0 (Gao et al., 2013). Specific deletion of GATA2 by VE-cadherin-cre and Vav-cre has revealed that GATA2 is critical for HSC generation as well as survival (de Pater et al., 2013).

cMyb: Transcription factor cMyb plays important role in HSC emergence and maintenance. Deletion studies showed embryonic lethality at E15.5 due to defective hematopoiesis. AGM explants from cMyb^{-/-} mice also showed 100-fold fewer HSCs (Takakura et al., 2000). Studies in zebrafish also consolidated the cMyb role in HSC generation via EHT in AGM (Zhang et al., 2011).

Notch signaling: In addition to the role of Notch signaling in HEC specification, it is also necessary for HSC development from HECs. Notch signaling mediates EHT by interactions between emerging HSCs expressing Notch receptors and the underlying ECs expressing Notch ligands. Inhibition of Notch signaling by chemical inhibitor DAPT has shown to prevent EHT in cultured E9.5 AGM cells. Consequently Activation of Notch signaling in a modified culture system of E11.0 AGM HECs resulted in production of long term engraft-able HSCs (Hadland et al., 2015).

Wnt/\beta-catenin signaling: Wnt in a well studied evolutionarily conserved signaling pathway known to regulate several stages of embryonic development. It has been shown that Wnt/ β -

catenin necessary for the AGM HECs to produce long term HSCs as well as in the cultured HECs to produce HCs. E11.5 AGM HECs have also been shown to possess high degree of Wnt activity (Ruiz-Herguido et al., 2012).

Apart from the factors and signaling pathways listed in table 3, there are other mediators also known to regulate HSC generation from hemogenic endothelium via EHT. G-protein coupled receptors, Purine signaling, Chomatin remodeling and also hypoxia and inflammation play critical roles in HSC emergence (Gritz and Hirschi, 2016).

5.5. Embryonic stem cells

Embryonic stem cells are pluripotent cells derived from the inner cell mass of blastocyst-stage embryos (Evans and Kaufman, 1981; Martin, 1981). The unique features about ESCs are the capacity of retaining normal karyotypes following extensive passaging in the culture and generating every cell type in the body. The property of ESCs being able to differentiate into multiple lineages in culture allowed studying model embryonic development *in vitro* and the events regulating early lineage induction and specification (Keller, 1995).

5.5.1. Proliferation of embryonic stem cells maintaining pluripotency in culture

ESCs were initially maintained by co-culture with mouse embryonic feeder cell (Evans & Kaufman, 1981; Martin, 1981). Studies showed that the leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF) is one of the key components for maintaining undifferentiated state of ESCs (Williams et al., 1988). Later External signaling pathways such as LIF-gp130-STAT3 (Niwa et al., 1998; Matsuda et al., 1999), BMP-TGF- β -Nodal-Smad (Ying et al., 2003), MAPK-ERK (Burdon et al., 1999), and WNT (Hao et al., 2006; Ogawa et al., 2006) as well as transcription factors *Oct3/4* (Niwa et al., 2000), *Sox2* (Masui et al., 2007) and *Nanog* (Mitsui et al., 2003) have been reported to play important roles in the self-renewal of mouse ESCs. The interaction of transcription factors including *Oct3/4*, *Sox2* and *Nanog* form an interaction of network to maintain the pluripotency of ESCs. ESC differentiation is also regulated by the epigenetic modification of chromatin and gene expression (Niwa et al., 2000).

5.5.2. Differentiation of embryonic stem cells in culture

Upon removal of the factors that maintain undifferentiated state of the ESCs, under appropriate conditions ESCs differentiate into lineages of three germ layers: mesoderm, endoderm and ectoderm (Keller, 1995; Smith, 2001). Three general approaches are usually taken for ESC differentiation in culture. The first method is culturing ESCs to form aggregate into a three dimensional colony called embryoid bodies (EBs). EBs promote cell-cell interactions in the three dimensional colonies which is important to study various developmental program while generation of cytokines and inducing factors inside of the EBs may thwart the desired differentiation.

The second method is to culture ESCs on the layer of stromal cells and the let the ESCs to differentiate in contact with the stromal cells. The most commonly used cell line for this co-culture differentiation studies is mouse OP9 cells (Nakano et al., 1994; Kodama et al., 1994). This co-culture method provides specific growth advantage from the particular cell line used as the stromal cell layer. However undefined factors discharged from the stromal cells may influence the ESC differentiation.

The other method used for ESC differentiation is differentiation in a monolayer on extracellular matrix protein (Nishikawa et al., 1998a). This is more defined condition for the culture and minimizes the stromal cell and surrounding cells' influence. Different proteins influence the differentiation differently hence the use of appropriate matrix protein is critical. ESC differentiation studies allow generating a vast range of cells and thus studying their development *in vitro*.

5.6. In-vitro generation of hemogenic endothelial cells

Elucidating the mechanism of hematopoietic differentiation from HECs is crucial to understand the process of HSC development. Despite many studies on the developmental pathway of HSCs have established the endothelial origin of HSCs, the underlying molecular mechanism is yet to be fully understood. The ESC culture system recapitulates development of the HC lineage through mesoderm induction and endothelial differentiation (Ogawa et al., 1999; Endoh et al., 2002; Hashimoto et al., 2007; Lancrin et al., 2009). ESC differentiation system provided the first functional evidence for the existence of common progenitor hemangioblast with endothelial and hematopoietic potential. The common progenitor arises in EBs differentiated from ESCs as a monolayer on collagen IV earlier than hematopoietic progenitors on day 5 (Choi et al., 1998; Nishikawa et al., 1998a).

Recent studies demonstrated the existence of hemogenic endothelium using the mouse ESC differentiation system (Eilken et al., 2009; Lancrin et al., 2009). Plating hemangioblast containing Flk1⁺ mesoderm population in liquid blast condition for two days,

an EC population (Tie2⁺c-Kit⁺CD41⁻) arises (Lancrin et al., 2009). This population contained EC potential and gave rise to hematopoietic lineages. Equivalent population exists in mouse neural plate stage embryos and E10.5 AGM region. By using time-lapse microscopy, from Flk1⁺VE-cadherin⁻ mesoderm co-cultured with OP9 cells, HECs in the EC colonies were shown to generate HCs (Eilken et al., 2009). These HECs were observed to express VE-cadherin, form tight junction, take up acetylated low-density lipoprotein (Ac-LDL) and reside in an endothelial sheet. These studies suggested HECs are transiently generated for a short time window during the hematopoietic development from the mesoderm.

5.7. Objective of this study

To generate HSCs from ESC culture, it is important to identify a precise HEC population. Although hemogenic potential can be detected in the VE-cadherin⁺ cell population derived from ESCs (Ogawa et al., 1999; Nishikawa et al., 1998a), VE-cadherin is not confined exclusively on ECs. There is no specific marker to distinguish HECs from non-hemogenic ECs and no positional information is available in the ESC culture. Therefore, a functional definition combined with marker expression is necessary to identify HECs in culture. I assume three criteria for identification of ESC-derived HECs. First, HECs in culture should express surface markers and transcription factors that resemble both endothelial and hematopoietic signature. Second, when sorted and cultured in favorable condition, HECs should differentiate to HCs. Third, HECs in culture should retain some EC potential as a proof of their endothelial identity. Such progenitors with a bipotential ability to form HC colonies and EC sheets have been described but their detailed surface markers and regulatory mechanisms remained unknown (Nishikawa et al., 1998a).

The state when a progenitor is bipotential is an important phenomenon as it characterizes the intermediate stage of the HECs that is undergoing EHT by activating hematopoietic program. Manipulating the regulatory mechanism of the bipotential state is a key to HSC induction from ESCs in culture. For this purpose, a population should be selected by specific surface markers which represents HECs. I considered CD41 as one possible candidate, as CD41 expression in VE-cadherin⁺ cells is known to identify the precursor of HSCs in the embryo (Rybstov et al., 2011; Rybstov et al., 2014). Also ESC-derived HECs has been shown to express CD41 at the onset of EHT (Eilken et al., 2009).

I pursued two questions in this study. First, whether CD41 expression on VE-cadherin⁺ cells could identify bipotential HECs and second, how the bipotential state of HECs could be regulated.

In this study, I found that CD45⁻CD31⁺ VE-cadherin⁺ CD41⁺ cells represent an enriched population of HECs that contain bipotential progenitors of ECs and HCs. These bipotential progenitors could be further enriched in the CXCR4⁺ fraction of this population. I also found that CXCR4 signaling negatively regulates the bipotential state of HECs by suppressing their endothelial potential. This *in vitro* model of regulation of bipotential HECs provide us an insight to control the HEC differentiation toward the induction of transplantable HSCs from ESCs.

6. Materials and Methods

6.1. Cell lines

In this study, KTPU8 ES cell line is used. KTPU8 is a feeder free ES cell line derived from TT2 ES cell line (Yagi et al., 1993). KTPU8 cells were maintained in the undifferentiated state on 0.1% gelatin (Sigma-Aldrich, MO, USA) coated culture dishes in Glasgow Minimum Essential Medium (Life Technologies, Grand Island, NY, USA) supplemented with 10% knockout serum replacement (Life Technologies), 1% fetal calf serum (Japan BioSerum, Fukuyama, Japan), 1mM Sodium Pyruvate (Life Technologies), 1X nonessential amino acids (Life Technologies), 0.1mM 2-Marcaptoethanol (InvitrogenTM, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) and 1000U/ml recombinant mouse leukemia inhibitory factor (Millipore, Darmstadt, Germany). OP9 stromal cell line (Kodama et al., 1994) was maintained with α -MEM (Life Technologies) supplemented with 10% FCS (Japan BioSerum).

6.2. Mouse

Pregnant ICR mice were purchased from Japan SLC (Shizuoka, Japan). E7.5–8.5 whole embryos or E9.5–10.5 lower trunk of embryos proper and yolk sac were isolated and prepared as a single cell suspension. After sacrificing mice by cervical dislocation, the yolk sac and embryonic body were removed by cutting the uterine membrane and the surrounding tissues were dissected away by using fine forceps. For E9.5–10.5 embryos, the embryonic body is separated from yolk sac. Anterior and caudal parts were cut off from the embryonic body as described Godin et al., 1995 and the embryonic trunk lower than the heart level was pooled. The pooled yolk sac and lower trunk were incubated in dispase II (EIDIA, Tokyo, Japan) at 37°C for 20 minutes. Cell clump was washed and further dissociated by incubation in cell dissociation buffer (Life Technologies) at 37°C for 20 minutes. Finally, single-cell suspension was prepared by gentle pipetting. All animal experiments were performed under the approval of the Institutional Review Board at Kumamoto University.

6.3. Growth factors and inhibitors

Recombinant murine interleukin 3 (IL-3), interleukin 7 (IL-7), stem cell factor (SCF) and FMS-like tyrosine kinase 3 ligand (Flt3L) were purchased from PeproTech (Rocky Hill, NJ, USA). Recombinant mouse CXC chemokine ligand 12 (CXCL12) was purchased from BioLegend (San Diego, CA, USA). Recombinant human erythropoietin (EPO) and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF) were obtained from Kyowa Hakko Kirin

(Tokyo, Japan). The CXC chemokine receptor 4 (CXCR4) antagonist AMD3100 was purchased from Cellagen Technology (San Diego, CA, USA).

6.4. Antibodies

Monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) against CD11b (M1/70), CD19 (6D5), CD31 (390), CD41 (MWReg30), CD45 (30-F11), Gr1 (RB6-6C5), TER119 (TER119) and B220 (RA3-6B2), isotype-matched control mAb (RTK2071) and streptavidin were purchased from BioLegend. Anti-CXCR4 mAb (2B11) was purchased from eBioscience (San Diego, CA, USA). Anti-VE-cadherin mAb (VECD1) (Matsuyoshi et al., 1997) was purified from hybridoma culture supernatant by using CELLine (WHEATON Millville, NJ, USA) prepared and labeled with Biotin or Allophycocyanin (APC) (Dojindo Laboratories, Kumamoto, Japan) as directed by the manufacturer's instruction.

6.5. In vitro differentiation of ESCs

A total of 20,000 ESCs were put into a 25 cm2 (T25) culture flask pre-seeded with OP9 stromal cells. Cells were cultured with α -MEM (Life Technologies) supplemented with 10% FCS (Japan BioSerum) and 50 μ M 2-mercaptoethanol (induction medium). Medium was changed in every 2 days. Cells were collected by incubation with cell dissociation buffer (Life Technologies) and blocked with normal mouse serum (Millipore) for staining with mAbs.

6.6. In vitro differentiation into hematopoietic cells

Cells were co-cultured with OP9 stromal cells in induction medium supplemented with a combination of hematopoietic cytokines. For induction of erythromyloid lineages, IL-3, SCF and G-CSF (20 ng/ml) and EPO (2 IU/ml) were used. For induction of B cells, Flt3L and IL-7 (20 ng/ml) and SCF (50 ng/ml) were used. Medium was changed every 3 days. HC lineages were analyzed by flow cytometry and May-Grunwald Giemsa staining after 7 days for erythromyeloid lineages or 14 days for B cells.

6.7. Cell sorting

Cells were stained with mAbs and washed with Hanks' balanced salt solution containing 1% bovine serum albumin (BSA, Sigma-Aldrich). Unstained, single stained and isotype matched controls were used for gating strategies. Flow cytometry analysis was performed using a BD FACSAriaTM III and a BD FACSCantoTM II flow cytometer (Becton Dickinson, NJ, USA). Single cell sorting was performed using the BD FACSAriaTM III. Acquired data were analyzed by FlowJo software (FlowJo LLC, Ashland, OR, USA).

6.8. Determination of progenitor frequencies

HC progenitor frequency was determined by limiting dilution or single cell analysis. In limiting dilution analysis, defined numbers of cells (20, 40, 60, 80, 200, 300, 400, 500) were plated on each well of a 96-well plate pre-seeded with OP9 stromal cells (OP9 plates). For each inoculum size, a minimum of 24 wells was seeded. Cells were cultured in the induction medium supplemented with hematopoietic cytokines. Wells containing HCs were scored after 7 days under a microscope. Frequencies were determined by calculating with linear regression analysis on the basis of Poisson distribution and given as the reciprocal of the concentration of test cells that results in 37% negative wells. Cell populations with high progenitor frequencies were subjected to direct measurement by sorting single cells to OP9 plates.

EC progenitor frequency was determined by seeding 1,000 cells in each well of a 6well plate pre-seeded with OP9 cells and incubating in the induction medium for 4 days. Wells were immunohistochemically stained for scoring EC colonies.

Bipotential progenitor frequency was determined by single cell sorting on OP9 plates. Cells were cultured for 7 days in the induction medium supplemented with hematopoietic cytokines. Wells containing HCs were marked by phase contrast microscopy and ECs were revealed by immunohistochemical staining with anti-VE-cadherin mAb. After staining, each well was analyzed for coexistence of HC and EC colonies by microscopy.

6.9. Immunohistochemistry

Cells were fixed with 2% paraformaldehyde and sequentially stained with anti-VEcadherin mAb and horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-conjugated donkey anti-rat IgG antibody (Jackson Immuno Research Lab, West Grove, PA, USA). VE-cadherin⁺ EC colonies were revealed using DAB-NiCl substrate solution.

6.10. Immunofluorescence

Cells were fixed with 2% paraformaldehyde, followed by staining with anti-CD45 and TER119 mAbs and FITC-conjugated isolectin B4 (Sigma-Aldrich). HCs were revealed by staining with a goat anti-rat AlexaFluor555 antibody (Life Technologies). Cell nuclei were counterstained with DAPI (4,6-diamidino-2phenylindole). Fluorescence images were taken and processed using a TCS-SP2 laser scanning confocal microscope (Leica, Wetzlar, Germany).

6.11. Determination of CXCL12 level by ELISA

Culture supernatants were centrifuged and stored in -80°C in aliquots. CXCL12 protein level was measured by the SDF1 (CXCL12) Mouse ELISA Kit (Abcam, Cambridge,

MA, USA). Each sample was tested in triplicate. The standard curve was constructed by reconstituting SDF1 standard protein supplied in the kit. The optical density of each well was determined using an iMarkTM Microplate Absorbance Reader (BIO-RAD, Hercules, CA, USA) set to 450 nm wavelength.

6.12. Gene expression analysis

Total RNA was extracted from sorted cells using TRIzol Reagent (Invitrogen). RNA was reverse transcribed to cDNA by Superscript II reverse transcriptase (Thermo Fisher Scientific) using random hexamer priming according to the manufacturer's method. Real time PCR reactions were carried out using Power SYBR Green PCR Master Mix (Life Technologies) in an ABI 7300 Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems, Thermo Fisher Scientific). Primers were obtained from Eurofins Genomics (Tokyo, Japan). The list of primers is shown in Table 4.

	Forward primer	Reverse primer
B2m (146)	CTGACCGGCCTGTATGCTAT	CCGTTCTTCAGCATTTGGAT
Sox17 (119)	TATGGTGTGGGGCCAAAGACGA	CCGCTTCTCTGCCAAGGTCAA
	A	
Runx1 (70)	CCTCCTTGAACCACTCCACT	CTGGATCTGCCTGGCATC
Tal1 (150)	ATAGCCTTAGCCAGCCGCTC	GCCGCACTACTTTGGTGTGA
Brachyury	GCTTCAAGGAGCTAACTAACG	CCAGCAAGAAAGAGTACATG
(102)	AG	GC
B2m (98)	TGGTGCTTGTCTCACTGACC	TATGTTCGGCTTCCCATTCT
Etv2 (113)	CAGAGTCCAGCATTCACCAC	AGGAATTGCCACAGCTGAAT
Foxc2 (134)	GCAACCCAACAGCAAACTTTC	GACGGCGTAGCTCGATAGG
Coup TFII (87)	GACTCCGCCGAGTATAGCTG	GCTTTCCACATGGGCTACAT

Table 3: List of PCR primers

6.13. Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using Microsoft Excel and GraphPad Prism 6 software (GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA, USA). Values of p<0.05 were considered statistically significant. Results are expressed as mean \pm SEM.

7. Results

7.1. ESC-derived VE-cadherin⁺ CD41⁺ cells have definitive hematopoietic potential

I separated the CD45⁻ CD31⁺ VE-cadherin⁺ cells derived from ESCs co-cultured with OP9 cells based on surface expression of CD41. 14.7 \pm 0.7% (n=8) of CD45⁻ CD31⁺ VE-cadherin⁺ cells expressed CD41 on their surface at day 6 culture. This proportion of VE-cadherin⁺ CD41⁺ cells is consistent with the finding of a recent study (Hirota and Ogawa, 2015). VE-cadherin⁺CD41⁺ subpopulation started to appear from day 5 and reached their peak proportion on day 6 (Figure 5A, B). The expression of CD41 was compared and verified by confirming specific binding of the anti-CD41 antibody using an isotype-matched control antibody (Figure 5C). These results showed that CD45⁻ CD31⁺ VE-cadherin⁺ CD41⁺

Next, I compared the hematopoietic potential of CD45⁻ CD31⁺ VE-cadherin⁺ CD41⁺ cells and CD45⁻ CD31⁺ VE-cadherin⁺ CD41⁻ cells (represented as V⁺41⁺ and V⁺41⁻ cells hereafter, respectively). V⁺41⁺ and V⁺41⁻ cells were sorted on day 6 and re-cultured on OP9 cells in the presence of hematopoietic cytokines. Both V⁺41⁺ and V⁺41⁻ cells produced HCs in culture, which contained erythrocytes, monocytes/macrophages and granulocytes lineages (Figure 6A, B). There was no significant lineage bias observed between HCs derived from these two populations (Figure 6C). However, in hematopoietic favorable culture condition, V⁺41⁺ cells produced a higher number of hematopoietic cells than V⁺41⁻ cells (Figure 6E, F, G). V⁺41⁺ and V⁺41⁻ cells were also able to produce B lymphocytes under culture conditions favorable for lymphopoietic differentiation (Figure 6A, B, D). When investigated for EC potential, V⁺41⁺ cells also produced sheet like EC colonies in the culture (Figure 6H). These observations suggested that V⁺41⁺ cells had superior hematopoietic potential but not fully committed to hematopoietic lineages, as they retained EC potential.



Figure 5: Kinetics of ESC-derived VE-cadherin⁺ CD41⁺ cells

(A) Expression of CD41 and VE-cadherin on CD45⁻ CD31⁺ cells. ESCs were cultured on OP9 cell layer for 5–7 days and analyzed by FACS. Upper panels show the expression of CD31 and CD45 on live singlet cells. Rectangles indicate the CD45⁻ CD31⁺ cell gate. Numbers indicate the percentage of cells in the rectangles. Lower panels show the expression of CD41 and VE-cadherin in the CD45⁻ CD31⁺ cells. Numbers indicate the percentage of cells in the quadrants. A representative result from five independent experiments is shown. (B) Proportion of V⁺41⁺ cells in total cells. n≥4. **p*<0.05, ***p*<0.01 in Tukey's multiple comparison test. (C) Representative FACS pattern of differentiating ESCs. ESCs were cultured on OP9 cell layer for 6 days and analyzed by FACS. Left panel shows staining pattern of anti-CD41 and anti-VE-cadherin antibodies on CD45⁻ CD31⁺ cells. Right panel shows staining pattern of anti-VE-cadherin and isotype-matched control antibody instead of anti-CD41. Numbers indicate the percentage of cells in the quadrants. A representative result from three independent experiments is shown.



Figure 6. Hematopoietic and endothelial potential of ESC derived VE-cadherin⁺ CD41⁺ and VE-cadherin⁺ CD41⁻ cells

(A) Hematopoietic lineages derived from V^+41^+ cells. ESCs were cultured on OP9 cell layer for 6 days. V^+41^+ cells were sorted and cultured on OP9 cell layer in either the erythromyeloid or B lymphoid condition. TER119⁺ erythrocytes (left panel), CD11b⁺Gr-1⁻ macrophages (middle panel), Gr1⁺CD11b⁺ granulocytes (middle panel) and CD19⁺B220⁺ B lymphocytes (right panel) were detected by FACS. A representative result from more than three independent experiments is shown. (B) Hematopoietic lineages derived from V⁺41⁻ cells. V⁺41⁻ cells were sorted from day 6 ESC culture and hemogenic

potential was analyzed. TER119⁺ erythrocytes (left panel), CD11b⁺Gr1⁻ macrophages (middle panel), Gr1⁺CD11b⁺ granulocytes (middle panel) and CD19⁺B220⁺ B lymphocytes (right panel) were detected by FACS. A representative result from three independent experiments is shown. (C) Proportions of HC lineages derived from $V^4 41^+$ cells and $V^4 41^-$ cells. No significant difference was observed in the proportion between $V^4 41^+$ cells and $V^4 41^-$ cells by Student's T test. n=3. (D) Proportions of B lymphocytes derived from V⁺41⁺ cells and V⁺41⁻ cells. Thick horizontal bars indicate the mean of four independent experiments. No significant difference was observed in the proportion between V⁴41⁺ cells and V^+41^- cells by Student's T test. n=4. (E) Hemogenic potential of day 6 V^+41^+ and V^+41^- cells. A total of 12,000 cells from each fraction were cultured with OP9 cells and hematopoietic cytokines. HCs were counted after 7 days. n=4. **p<0.01 in Student's T test. (F) HC colonies produced from V⁺41⁺ cells. A total of $1,000 \text{ V}^+41^+$ cells were sorted on OP9 cell layer and cultured with hematopoietic cytokines for 7 days. Bar indicates 100 mm. (G) HC colonies produced from V^+41^- cells. A total of 1,000 V⁺41⁻ cells were sorted on OP9 cell layer and cultured with hematopoietic cytokines for 7 days. Bar indicates 100 mm. (H) EC colonies produced from V^+41^+ cells. A total of 1,000 V^+41^+ cells were sorted on OP9 cell layer and cultured for 4 days. Cells were immunohistochemically stained with anti-VE-cadherin antibody. Bar indicates 500 mm.

As $V^{+}41^{+}$ cells have potential to differentiate in to both HCs and ECs in culture, I investigated the expression of transcription factors in V^+41^+ and V^+41^- cells. Both population of V^+41^+ and V^+41^- cells expressed transcription factors of endothelial signature. Transcription factors express in endothelial cells including HECs, i.e. Sox17 (Corada et al., 2013; Bos et al., 2015) and Etv2 (Lee et al., 2008; Wareing et al., 2012), were expressed in both $V^{+}41^{+}$ and $V^{+}41^{-}$ cells without any significant difference (Figure 7A). Transcription factor Coup-TFII expression was lower than Sox17 and Etv2 levels in both populations (Figure 7A). Expression level of Foxc2, which is essential for arterial specification (Seo et al., 2006), was lower in V^+41^+ cells compared with V^+41^- cells but still higher than undifferentiated ESCs (Figure 7B). In contrast, the transcription factors involved in hematopoietic specification of ECs were expressed in different levels between these two populations. Runx1, a transcription factor involved in hematopoietic specification (Okuda et al., 1996; Okada et al., 1998; Wang et al., 1996; Yokomizo et al., 2001), was expressed 10fold higher in V^+41^+ cells than V^+41^- cells (Figure 7C). Transcription factor Tall level was also found increased two-fold in V^+41^+ cells compared with V^+41^- cells (Figure 7C). The expression pattern of transcription factors showed that, V⁺41⁺ cells express transcription factors of both hematopoietic and endothelial signature.



Figure 7. Expression of transcription factors in ESC derived VE-cadherin⁺CD41⁺ and VE-cadherin⁺CD41⁻ cells

(A) Expression of Sox17, Etv2 and Coup-TFII in V⁺41⁺ and V⁺41⁻ cells. Expression level was normalized to that of beta-2-microglobulin. n≥3. No significant difference in Student's T test. (B) Foxc2 expression in undifferentiated ESCs, V⁺41⁺ cells and V⁺41⁻ cells. n=3. *p<0.05, ***p<0.001, ****p<0.0001 in Tukey's multiple comparison test. (C) Expression of Runx1 and Tal1 in V⁺41⁺ and V⁺41⁻ cells. n≥3. *p<0.05, **p<0.01 in Student's T test.

Altogether, these results demonstrated that ESC-derived V^+41^+ cells have a high hematopoietic potential to produce definitive HC lineages including B lymphocytes, yet retain a capacity of endothelial differentiation.

7.2. VE-cadherin⁺CD41⁺ cells contain bipotential progenitors of hematopoietic and endothelial cells

To compare the differentiation potential, I measured the progenitor frequencies among the VE-cadherin and CD41 subpopulations. The hematopoietic progenitor frequency was measured in V^+41^+ cells sorted from days 5 to 7 in culture. Progenitor frequency peaked at 1 in 9 V^+41^+ cells on day 6 and decreased thereafter (Table 4). At day 6, V^+41^- cells showed a 165-fold lower frequency than V^+41^+ cells (Table 4). Hematopoietic progenitor frequency of V^-41^+ cells was also measured during the same culture period. V^-41^+ cells were found to possess a four-fold lower frequency than that of V^+41^+ cells (Table 4).

The cell populations were then measured for their endothelial progenitor frequencies. In addition to their high hemogenic potential, V^+41^+ cells also possessed a high frequency of endothelial progenitors, as 1 in 5 cells produced EC colonies (Table 4). Endothelial progenitor frequency was stable across day 5 to 6 and slightly declined on day 7. In contrast to their

inferior hematopoietic progenitor frequency, Day 6 V⁺41⁻ cells showed a comparable endothelial progenitor frequency as that of the V⁺41⁺ cells (Table 4). In comparison with the frequencies of V⁺41⁺ and V⁺41⁻ cells, V⁻41⁺ cells showed only 177-fold lower endothelial progenitors that that of the V⁺41⁺ cells (Table 4). These results suggested that both hematopoietic and endothelial progenitors are highly enriched in V⁺41⁺ cells with the highest proportion of the progenitors at day 6. V⁺41⁻ cells contained mostly endothelial progenitors and few hematopoietic progenitors. On the other hand, V⁻41⁺ cells contained mostly committed hematopoietic progenitors and very few endothelial progenitors, which is in line with the previous reports (Hashimoto et al., 2007).

Cell populations ^a	Progenitor frequencies (Number of independent experiments; Total number of wells tested)			Proportion of bipotential	
-	Hematopoietic	Endothelial	Bipotential	progenitors in HC progenitors	
Day 5 V ⁺ 41 ⁺	1/12 (4; 384 ^b)	1/5 (3; 18 ^d)	1/58 (3; 288 ^b)	19.2%	
Day 6 V ⁺ 41 ⁺	1/9 (6; 672 ^b)	1/5 (4; 24 ^d)	1/38 (5; 576 ^b)	20.8%	
Day 7 V ⁺ 41 ⁺	1/32 (3; 288 ^b)	1/8 (3; 18 ^d)	1/144 (3;288 ^b)	22.2%	
Day 6 V ⁺ 41 ⁻	1/1485 (3; 288 ^c)	1/6 (4; 24 ^d)			
Day 6 V ⁻ 41 ⁺	1/39 (4; 384°)	1/887 (3; 15 ^d)			

 Table 4. Progenitor frequencies in the cell populations derived from ES cells

(a) ES cells were cultured on OP9 cell layer for 5–7 days. $CD45^{-}CD31^{+}$ cells were separated according to the expression of CD41 and VE-cadherin by FACS. VE-cadherin⁺CD41⁺ population is denoted by V⁺41⁺, VE-cadherin⁺CD41⁻ by V⁺41⁻ and VE-cadherin⁻CD41⁺ by V⁻41⁺. Progenitor frequencies in the sorted cell populations were determined.

(b) Frequency was measured by single cell analysis. Single cells were deposited into each well of a 96well OP9 plate. Cells were cultured in the presence of hematopoietic cytokines. After 7 days, cultures were fixed and stained with VE-cadherin antibody. Wells containing both an endothelial cell colony and hematopoietic cells were scored as bipotential progenitors.

(c) Frequency was measured by limiting dilution analysis. For VE-cadherin⁺ CD41⁻ cells, 200, 300, 400 and 500 cells per well were seeded on 96-well OP9 plates. For VE-cadherin⁻ CD41⁺ cells, 20, 40, 60 and 80 cells per well were seeded on 96-well OP9 plates. For each cell density, 24 wells were tested. After 7 days of culture with hematopoietic cytokines, wells containing hematopoietic cells were scored for determination of hematopoietic progenitor frequency.

(d) Frequency was measured by low density bulk culture. A total of 1,000 sorted cells were inoculated in each well of 6-well OP9 plates. After 4 days, cultures were fixed and stained with VE-cadherin antibody. Number of endothelial cell colonies was scored.



Figure 8. ESC-derived VE-cadherin⁺CD41⁺ cells contain bipotential hemogenic endothelial progenitors

(A) HCs and an EC colony produced from a single V^41^+ cell. Day 6 V^41^+ cells were individually deposited into wells of OP9 plate and cultured for 7 days with hematopoietic cytokines. Cultures were stained with isolectin B4 (green), anti-CD45 and anti-TER119 mAbs (magenta). Photomicrographs were taken using a TCS-SP2 confocal microscope. The scale bar indicates 75 mm. (B) Brachyury expression in day 6 V^41^+ cells and day 4 Flk-1⁺ cells. n=4. **p<0.01 in Student's T test. (C) Brachyury immunofluorescence staining. ESC-derived day 4 Flk-1⁺ and day 6 V^41^+ cells were cytospotted on glass slides. Specimens were fixed and stained with anti-Brachyury antibody (Abcam, ab20680, green). Nuclei were counterstained with DAPI (blue). Microphotographs were taken using a TCS-SP2 confocal microscope. Scale bars indicate 25 mm.

As $V^{+}41^{+}$ cells contained high frequency of both hematopoietic and endothelial progenitors, it urged me to examine whether this population contains bipotential progenitors. Bipotential progenitor is the cell that generates both HC and EC colonies from a single cell. To investigate this, single cells from the $V^{+}41^{+}$ population were sorted on each well of 96-well plates and cultured with OP9 cells in the presence of hematopoietic cytokines. After culturing for 7 days, I detected some wells containing both HC and EC colonies derived from

single cells (Figure 8A). Such wells were scored as bipotential progenitors. Bipotential progenitors were found across day 5 to 7 and constantly and the frequency was 1 in 38 cells from day 6 $V^{+}41^{+}$ cells. Around 20% of hematopoietic progenitors were detected as bipotential and this proportion was consistent from day 5 to 7 of the culture (Table 4).

Population	Cells	Nuclear stained	Frequency of nuclear
	counted	bright cells	stained cells
Day 4 Flk1 ⁺ cells	2760	984	1/2.80
Day 6 $V^{+}41^{+}$ cells	2219	12	1/184.92

Table 5. Frequency of brachyury expression

Cells from each population were cyto-spotted on glass slides. Specimens were fixed and stained with anti-Brachyury antibody. Nuclei were counterstained with DAPI. Cells were then counted by taking microphotographs of different fields on each slide using a TCS-SP2 confocal microscope. Frequency was calculated as the ratio of total number of cells counted and number of cells stained.

As the mesoderm derived hemangioblast cells could also be bipotential for EC and HC lineages (Nishikawa et al., 1998a), I checked the *brachyury* expression in V^+41^+ cells. V^+41^+ cells did not express *brachyury*, which is a marker of mesodermal cells as evidenced by the expression in Flk-1⁺ cells in day 4 culture (Figure 8B). To verify the fact that the bipotential progenitors were not a contamination of hemangioblast cells, I checked the *brachyury* expression in individual V^+41^+ cells and day 4 Flk-1⁺ cells by immunofluorescence staining (Figure 8C). The frequency of Brachyury-expressing cells in the Flk-1⁺ cells were expectedly high (~1/3) whereas, the frequency in V^+41^+ cell population was lower than that of the frequency of bipotential progenitors (1/185 vs. 1/38, Table 5). These results suggested that V^+41^+ cells contained bipotential progenitors that generate HC and EC lineages from single cells and they are a cell population distinct from immature mesodermal cells.



Figure 9. VE-cadherin and CD41 expression on the bipotential progenitors

Expression of VE-cadherin and CD41 in $CD45^{-}CD31^{+}$ cells derived from ESCs. ESCs were cultured on OP9 cell layer for 6 days. Single V⁺41⁺ cells were sorted on OP9 plates using the index-sorting mode of FACSAriaTM III. Bipotential progenitors were marked as the wells containing both HCs and ECs after culturing for 7 days with hematopoietic cytokines. Expression level of VE-cadherin and CD41 was analyzed for individual bipotential progenitors by index-sorting data. Seven individual bipotential progenitors were analyzed from four independent index-sorting experiments and depicted in separate panels. Thick red lines indicate quadrant for negative and positive area determined by negative controls. Numbers indicate the percentage of cells in the quadrants. The rectangles in the VE-cadherin⁺ CD41⁺ quadrants indicate the sorting gate. Numbers in the sorting gates indicate the percentage of cells. The section point between the two thin black lines inside the sorting gate represents the position of the respective bipotential progenitor.

The bipotential progenitors were an important feature of V^+41^+ cells. To investigate whether the bipotential progenitors are evenly distributed in the V^+41^+ cells and show a significant level of CD41 and VE-cadherin expression, I used the index-sorting method. By using index-sorting, the wells identified as bipotential can be traced back to check the intensity of surface marker expression on the specific cell. Index-sorting experiments showed that the VE-cadherin expression on the bipotential progenitors was evenly distributed i.e., they expressed from high to low level of VE-cadherin (Figure 9). However, the level CD41 expression was constantly found low (Figure 9).



Figure 10. Kinetics of emergence of HC colonies from VE-cadherin⁺ CD41⁺ cells

Kinetic analysis of HC differentiation from V^+41^+ cells. ESCs were cultured on OP9 cell layer for 6 days. Single V^+41^+ cells were sorted on OP9 plates and cultured for 14 days with hematopoietic cytokines. Each plate was observed in every 24 hours to monitor the emergence of HC colonies. Results of six plates from two independent experiments are presented as a cumulative count of HC-positive wells in each plate.

In addition to their high hematopoietic potential, V^+41^+ cells retained the endothelial potential as well. To check the V⁺41⁺ cell derived ECs, whether they are bona fide ECs or the ECs that undergoing delayed hematopoietic differentiation, I checked the kinetics of HC differentiation of V⁺41⁺ cells. Kinetic analysis revealed that most of HC colonies emerged by day 5 of single cell culture and almost no new HC colony containing well was detected after the 7-day culture (Figure 10). This result suggested that EC colonies derived from V⁺41⁺ cells do not retain hemogenic potentials (Figure 10).

Altogether these observations indicate that V^+41^+ cells fulfilled the standards of HECs. V^+41^+ cells express surface markers and transcription factors of both EC and HC signatures. Most importantly V^+41^+ cells include the bipotential EC and HC progenitors. I thus propose that V^+41^+ cells are hemogenic endothelial cells derived *in vitro* from ESCs.

7.3. CXCR4 signal modulates the bipotential state of VE-cadherin⁺CD41⁺ cells

Enrichment of the bipotential progenitor frequency in the V⁺41⁺ cells is necessary to understand the regulatory mechanisms of the bipotential state of HECs. I sought to further enrich the bipotential progenitors in the V⁺41⁺ population by examining the surface expression of different markers. Results showed that CXCR4, the α -chemokine receptor was expressed on 20.6±1.7% (n=11) of V⁺41⁺ cells (Figure 11A). Frequencies determined by single cell analyses showed that HC and EC progenitors were evenly distributed in the CXCR4⁺ and CXCR4⁻ fractions in the V⁺41⁺ population (Figure 11B). This finding is consistent with the fact that CXCR4 expressing cells were uniformly distributed in the V⁺41⁺ cells.



Figure 11. Bipotential hemogenic endothelial cells express CXCR4

(A) CXCR4 expression on V⁺41⁺ cells. ESCs were cultured on OP9 cell layer for 6 days and analyzed by FACS. Top left panel shows expression of CD41 and VE-cadherin on CD45⁻ cells. Numbers indicate the percentage of cells in the quadrants. Top right panel shows expression of CXCR4 on the V⁺41⁺ cells. Thick blue line represents fluorescence intensity of CXCR4 staining and red area represents the unstained control. Numbers indicate the percentage of CXCR4⁺ and CXCR4⁻ cells. Bottom left and right panels show the expression pattern of VE-cadherin and CD41 on the CXCR4⁻ and CXCR4⁺ cells, respectively. A representative result from three independent experiments is shown. (B) Progenitor frequencies in the CXCR4⁺ and CXCR4⁻ fractions. Single cells of CXCR4⁺ and CXCR4⁻ fractions were sorted on each well of 96-well OP9 plate and cultured with hematopoietic cytokines for 7 days. Cultures were stained with anti-VE-cadherin antibody for the detection of ECs. n=3. **p*<0.05 in Student's T test. (C) Bipotential progenitor frequency in CXCR4⁺ and CXCR4⁻ fractions. A total of 288 wells from three independent experiments were examined for each population. The expression levels of VE-cadherin and CD41 are not significantly different between the CXCR4⁺ and CXCR4⁻ fractions (Figure 11A). In contrast, the frequency of bipotential progenitors was significantly different, which was four-fold higher in the CXCR4⁺ fraction than the CXCR4⁻ fraction of V⁺41⁺ cells (Figure 11B, C). In the CXCR4⁺ fraction, more than half of the HC progenitors showed bipotential state (Figure 11C). These results suggest that CXCR4 expression marks most of the bipotential progenitors in the V⁺41⁺ cells. V⁺41⁺CXCR4⁺ cells thus represent a further enriched population containing bipotential HECs.

As the bipotential progenitors were more concentrated in the CXCR4 expressing fraction of the V⁺41⁺ cells, I checked the functional role of the CXCR4 receptor on the progenitors. For this purpose, CXCL12, the ligand of CXCR4, was exogenously added in the culture during all 6 days of ESC differentiation (Figure 12A). The addition of exogenous CXCL12 did not affect the cell growth as the average cell count from treated and untreated flasks were not significantly different (Figure 13A). The proportion of V⁺41⁺ cells were also unaffected by the CXCL12 treatment (Figure 13B). Also no significant change in the proportion of CXCR4⁺ fraction in V⁺41⁺ cells was observed (Figure 13C).

Surprisingly, however, the CXCL12 addition did affect the bipotential progenitors. The frequency of bipotential progenitors in the CXCR4⁺ fraction was reduced to one-fourth than that of the untreated cultures (Figure 12A). Although the frequency of HC progenitors was unaffected, the CXCL12 treatment also reduced the EC progenitor frequency in the CXCR4⁺ fraction of the V⁺41⁺ cells (Figure 12A). These results showed that CXCL12 addition in the ESC differentiation period decreases the frequency of bipotential and EC progenitors.





(A) Effect of CXCL12 treatment on the development of progenitors. ESCs were cultured on OP9 cell layer with or without 20 ng/ml CXCL12 for 6 days. Single cells of CXCR4⁺ and CXCR4⁻ fractions of V⁺41⁺ cells were sorted on each well of 96-well OP9 plates and cultured for 7 days. Progenitor frequency of each sample was compared with that of untreated CXCR4⁺ cells using Dunnett's multiple comparison test. n=3. **p*<0.05, ***p*<0.01. (B) Effect of CXCL12 treatment on the differentiation of HCs and ECs. Single cells of the CXCR4⁺ fraction of V⁺41⁺ cells were sorted on each well of 96-well OP9 plates and cultured with or without 20 ng/ml CXCL12 for 7 days. No significant difference in progenitor frequency was observed between CXCL12-treated and untreated cultures by Student's T test. n=3. (C) Effect of CXCR4 inhibition on the development of progenitors. CXCR4 antagonist AMD3100 was added at the concentration of 50 nM during day 4–6 of ESC differentiation. Single cells of the CXCR4⁺ fraction of V⁺41⁺ cells were sorted on each well of 96-well AMD3100-treated CXCR4⁺ fraction of X⁺41⁺ cells were sorted on each well of 96-well AMD3100-treated CXCR4⁺ fraction of X⁺41⁺ cells were sorted on each well of 96-well AMD3100-treated CXCR4⁺ fraction of X⁺41⁺ cells were sorted on each well of 96-well AMD3100-treated CXCR4⁺ fraction of X⁺41⁺ cells were sorted on each well of 96-well OP9 plates and cultured for 7 days. No significant difference in progenitor frequency was observed between untreated and AMD3100-treated CXCR4⁺ cells by Student's T test. n=4.



Figure 13. Effects of modulating CXCR4 signaling on ESC differentiation and EC potential (A) Effect of exogenous CXCL12 addition on cell growth. CXCL12 (20 ng/ml) was added during ESC differentiation on OP9 cell layer. No significant difference in total cell count at day 6 was observed between untreated and CXCL12-treated cultures by Student's T test. n=5. (B) Effect of CXCL12 addition on the proportion of V⁺41⁺ cells. No significant difference was observed. n=5. (C) Effect of CXCL12 addition on the proportion of CXCR4⁺ cells. No significant difference was observed. n=5. (D) Effect of CXCL12 addition during the ESC differentiation on the potential to form EC colonies. ESCs were cultured on OP9 cell layer for 6 days with and without exogenous CXCL12. CXCR4⁺ and CXCR4⁺ cells were sorted from both V⁺41⁺ and V⁺41⁻ populations. 1000 sorted cells were then cultured on OP9 cell layer for 4 days. EC colonies were revealed by immunohistochemical staining with anti-VE-cadherin antibody, and the numbers of colonies were counted. EC count from each population was compared in the untreated and CXCL12 induced groups. n=4. **p<0.01 in Student's T test.

Whether this suppressive effect of CXCL12 is specific for the V⁺41⁺CXCR4⁺ cells or it affects all CXCR4 expressing EC progenitors was investigated next. Exogenous CXCL12 was added during ESC differentiation for all 6 days and CXCR4⁺ and CXCR4⁻ fractions were checked from both V⁺41⁺ and V⁺41⁻ cells for EC potential. The frequency of EC progenitors was reduced in the CXCR4⁺ fractions from both V⁺41⁺ and V⁺41⁻ cells. CXCR4⁻ fractions were however, remained unaffected (Figure 13D).

To investigate whether the exogenous CXCL12 affect the frequency of the isolated progenitors, CXCL12 was added during the EC/HC differentiation culture of sorted CXCR4⁺ cells (Figure 12B). This would also prevent any carryover of the CXCL12 in the cultures of sorted CXCR4⁺ cells and thereby influencing the differentiation of ECs and reducing the detection of bipotential cells. However, the frequencies of bipotential progenitors as well as EC and HC progenitors were not changed significantly by the post-sorting addition of exogenous CXCL12 (Figure 12B). This result indicated that CXCL12-CXCR4 interaction affects during the generation of the progenitors but does not influence the differentiation and maturation.

Altogether these results suggest that CXCR4/CXCL12 signaling attenuates the endothelial potential of CXCR4-expressing progenitors including HECs., CXCR4/CXCL12 signaling thus negatively modulate the bipotential state of HECs.

To check whether inhibiting the endogenous CXCL12 in the culture had any effect on progenitor frequencies, I examined the effect AMD3100, a chemical antagonist of CXCR4 receptor (Hatse et al., 2002). AMD3100 was added in the last 2 days of ESC differentiation (Figure 12C), as during this period, ECs have been shown to be differentiated from mesoderm (Endoh et al., 2002; Hashimoto et al., 2007). Although the duration of treatment was not the total culture period, the average number of cells retrieved per flask decreased in a dose-dependent manner at day 6 (Figure 14A). This suggests that the AMD3100 have cytotoxicity over cell growth. The proportion of V⁺41⁻ and V⁺41⁺ cells remained stable irrespective of the concentration of AMD3100 (Figure 14B). However, the proportion of the CXCR4⁺ fraction in V⁺41⁺ cells increased two-fold at the concentration of 50 nM but decreased in higher concentrations (Figure 14C). Nevertheless, the frequency of bipotential and EC and HC progenitors in the CXCR4⁺ fraction remained unaffected by the treatment of 50 nM AMD3100 (Figure 12C). This result showed that blocking the endogenous CXCR4 signaling did not change the progenitor frequencies.



Figure 14. Effects of antagonizing CXCR4 signaling on ESC differentiation

(A) Dose-dependent reduction of cell growth by AMD3100 treatment. Different concentrations of AMD3100 were added during day 4–6 of ESC differentiation on OP9 cell layer. The number of cells harvested from each flask after 6 days was compared with untreated control flask using Dunnett's multiple comparison test. $n\geq 3$. *p<0.05, ****p<0.0001. (B) Proportion of V⁺41⁺ and V⁺41⁻ cells induced with different concentrations of AMD3100. Proportion was compared with that of untreated control using Dunnett's multiple comparison test. $n\geq 3$. No significant difference was observed. (C) Proportion of the CXCR4⁺ fraction in V⁺41⁺ cells. Proportion was compared with that of untreated control using Dunnett's multiple comparison test. $n\geq 3$. *p<0.01, ****p<0.0001.

I measured the concentration of endogenous CXCL12 using ELISA assays. The concentration of CXCL12 in the day 6 culture supernatant was found 487±94 pg/ml (n=3). These results may suggest that the endogenous level of CXCL12 was low than the level requires saturating the CXCR4 receptors. At this endogenous concentration of CXCL12, the effect of AMD3100 antagonist on the generation of progenitors was not noticeable.

7.4. Bipotential progenitors are less frequent in mouse embryos

Whether the bipotential progenitors can be detected *in vivo*, was the next question. To investigate this, I collected phenotypically equivalent V^+41^+ cells from the lower trunk of E10.5 mouse embryos (Figure 15A). E10.5 V^+41^+ cells were analyzed in single cell culture. Embryo-derived V^+41^+ cells contained a higher frequency of HC progenitors compared with ESC-derived V^+41^+ cells (Table 6, Figure 15C). In contrast, E10.5 V^+41^+ cells produced only faint and scattered EC colonies (Figure 15D), and the frequency was lower than ESC-derived V^+41^+ cells (Table 6). Moreover, wells with coexisting HC and EC colonies were extremely rare, only 2 out of 768 cells such example was found. This result suggested the rareness of bipotential progenitors in the embryos.



Figure 15. Bipotential progenitors are not detected in the E10.5 embryos

(A) Expression of CD41 and VE-cadherin on CD45⁻ CD31⁺ cells isolated from mouse embryos. Single cell suspension was prepared from lower trunk of E10.5 embryos and analyzed by FACS. Numbers indicate the percentage of cells in the quadrants. A representative result from six independent experiments is shown. (B) CXCR4 expression on the E10.5 V⁺41⁺ cells. Thick blue line represents fluorescence intensity of CXCR4 staining and the red area represents the unstained control. Numbers

indicate the percentage of CXCR4⁺ and CXCR4⁻ cells. A representative result from three independent experiments is shown. (C) HCs derived from E10.5 V⁺41⁺ cells. Single E10.5 V⁺41⁺ cells were deposited into each well of 96-well OP9 plate and cultured with hematopoietic cytokines for 7 days. Bar indicates 100 mm. (D) EC colonies differentiated from E10.5 V⁺41⁺ cells. A total of 1,000 E10.5 V⁺41⁺ cells were inoculated in each well of 6-well OP9 plates. ECs were analyzed after 4 days by immunohistochemical staining with anti-VE-cadherin antibody. Bar indicates 100 mm. (E) Progenitor frequencies in the CXCR4⁺ fraction of E10.5 V⁺41⁺ cells determined by single cell analysis. A total of 576 wells from three independent experiments were examined.

Cell populations ^a	Progenitor freque experiments; T	Proportion of bipotential		
	Hematopoietic	Endothelial	Bipotential	progenitors in HC progenitors
E10.5 (EP) V ⁺ 41 ⁺	1/4 (6; 768 ^b)	1/16 (3; 6 ^d)	1/384 (6; 768 ^b)	1%
E10.5 (EP) V ⁺ 41 ⁻	<1/4800 (3; 288 ^c)	1/17 (3; 12 ^d)		
E10.5 (EP) V ⁻ 41 ⁺	1/25 (3; 288 ^c)	1/10000 (3; 10 ^d)		
E9.5 (EP) V ⁺ 41 ⁺	1/3 (3; 480 ^b)	1/96 (3; 480 ^b)		
E9.5 (YS) V ⁺ 41 ⁺	1/3 (3; 384 ^b)	1/192 (3; 384 ^b)		
E8.5 $(YS + EP) V^{+}41^{+}$	1/6 (3; 576 ^b)	1/576 (3; 576 ^b)		

Table 6. Progenitor frequencies in the cell populations isolated from embryos

(a) E8.5 whole embryos or E9.5–10.5 lower trunk of embryos proper (EP) and yolk sac (YS) were collected. CD45⁻CD31⁺ cells were separated according to the expression of CD41 and VE-cadherin by FACS. VE-cadherin⁺CD41⁺ population is denoted by V⁺41⁺, VE-cadherin⁺CD41⁻ by V⁺41⁻ and VE-cadherin⁻CD41⁺ by V⁻41⁺. Progenitor frequencies in the sorted cell populations were determined.

(d) Frequency was measured by low density bulk culture. A total of 1,000 sorted cells were inoculated in each well of 6-well OP9 plates. After 5 days, cultures were fixed and stained with VE-cadherin antibody. Number of endothelial cell colonies was scored.

⁽b) Frequency was measured by single cell analysis. Single cells were deposited into each well of a 96well OP9 plate. Cells were cultured in the presence of hematopoietic cytokines. After 7 days, cultures were fixed and stained with VE-cadherin antibody. Wells containing both an endothelial cell colony and hematopoietic cells were scored as bipotential progenitors.

⁽c) Frequency was measured by limiting dilution analysis. For VE-cadherin⁺ CD41⁻ cells, 20, 40, 60 and 80 cells per well were seeded on 96-well OP9 plates. For VE-cadherin⁻ CD41⁺ cells, 10, 20, 30 and 35 cells per well were seeded on 96-well OP9 plates. For each cell density, 24 wells were tested. After 7 days of culture with hematopoietic cytokines, wells containing hematopoietic cells were scored for determination of hematopoietic progenitor frequency.

Expression pattern of CXCR4 on E10.5 V^+41^+ cells was similar to that of the ESCderived V^+41^+ cells as the E10.5 V^+41^+ cells could also be separated by their surface expression of CXCR4 (Figure 15B). However, the selective enrichment in the CXCR4 expressing cells was not evident. A total of 576 cells from the CXCR4⁺ population were analyzed, but no bipotential progenitors were found (Figure 15E).

Other phenotypically equivalent populations i.e. V^+41^- cells and V^-41^+ cells were detectable in the embryo-derived cells. E10.5 V^+41^- cells mostly contained EC progenitors and E10.5 V^-41^+ cells contained HC progenitors as expected (Table 6).



Figure 16. Bipotential progenitors are not detected in earlier embryonic populations

(A) Representative FACS pattern of E9.5 embryonic cells. Expression of CD41 and VE-cadherin on CD45⁻ cells is shown in the left panel. Numbers indicate the percentage of cells in the quadrants. Right panel shows the staining pattern of anti-CXCR4 antibody on V⁺41⁺ cells. The thick blue line represents fluorescence intensity of CXCR4 staining and the red area represents the negative control. Numbers indicate the percentage of CXCR4⁺ and CXCR4⁻ cells. A representative result from three independent experiments is shown. (B) Expression of CD41 and VE-cadherin on CD45⁻ CD31⁺ cells in the E8.5 whole mouse embryos. Numbers indicate the percentage of cells in the quadrants. A representative

result from three independent experiments is shown. (C) Expression of CD41 and VE-cadherin on $CD45^{-}CD31^{+}$ cells in the E7.5 whole mouse embryos. Numbers indicate the percentage of cells in the quadrants. A representative result from three independent experiments is shown.

Phenotypically equivalent V^+41^+ cells were also detected from E9.5 embryo proper and yolk sack cells. Both E9.5 embryo proper and yolk sac derived V^+41^+ cells were found to contain high potential for hematopoietic differentiation and very low endothelial potential (Table 6). Bipotential progenitor was not found in any E9.5 cells (Table 6). CXCR4 expressing cells were not detected in the E9.5 embryonic V^+41^+ cells (Figure 16A).

To investigate whether earlier embryo than E9.5 contain bipotential progenitors, I checked the V^+41^+ cells from E8.5 whole embryo (Figure 16B). However, E8.5 V^+41^+ cells also contained few EC progenitor and no bipotential progenitors were detected (Table 6). V^+41^+ cells were not detected in E7.5 whole embryos (Figure 16C).

Altogether these observations showed that bipotential progenitors are rarely detected in the embryos.

8. Discussion

The responsibility of constant maintenance and immune protection of the whole body cells is attributed on blood cells. HSCs are the cells that make constant renewal of blood possible by producing billions of new blood cells everyday. HSCs can self-renew, differentiate to a variety of specialized cells and mobilize out of the bone marrow into circulating blood while they make up only 1 in 100,000 cells in the blood stream. HSC transplantation is now routinely used to treat cancers and other immune disorders. Because of the tremendous importance of HSCs in therapy, *in-vitro* generation of HSCs from ESC culture have been one of the most exciting research area. Although murine ESCs in culture, given the right growth factors can produce almost every different blood cell type, generation of long term transplantable HSCs is a goal have not been achieved yet.

The fact that HSCs are derived from specialized endothelial cells i.e., HECs is now well accepted. However, the mechanism of EHT and the state of the transiting HECs is very important but still not clearly understood. For this purpose, it is necessary to narrow down the ESC derived EC population to an enriched level where it is possible to modulate their fate and thus understanding their regulatory mechanism of EHT.

The first question approached in this study was whether CD41 expression on VEcadherin⁺ cells can identify HECs in the ESC culture system. The functional definition of HEC is, a cell that has endothelial characteristics with hemogenic potential. In the current study, I studied V^+41^+ cells differentiated from ESC cultured with OP9 stromal cells. V^+41^+ cells were found to possess 165 times more hematopoietic progenitors than that of the $V^+41^$ cells. V^+41^+ cells are thus showed that CD41 expression enriches the hemogenic potential. The superior hemogenic potential of V^+41^+ cells was further supported by the observation that V^+41^+ cells expressed Runx1 at a 10-fold greater level compared with V^+41^- cells. Bos *et al.* suggested that, increased expression of Runx1 characterizes the determination of hematopoietic fate in ECs of the embryonic aorta (Bos et al., 2015), which is in line with the results in this study. However, further studies with genetically tagged Runx1-expressing cells will be required to directly correlate Runx1 expression with hemogenic potential (Ng et al., 2010).

Unlike the hemogenic potential, which is concentrated in the $V^4 41^+$ cells but not in the $V^4 41^-$ cells, the ability to form EC colonies was evenly distributed in both populations. The expression pattern of transcription factors also supported this finding. The transcription

factors Sox17 and Etv2 were expressed at a similar level in both populations. Interestingly, however, the expression level of Foxc2 was lower in V^+41^+ cells than the level in V^+41^- cells. This might be associated with the gaining of hemogenic potential by the V^+41^+ cells. The results however, indicate that V^+41^+ cells are highly hemogenic and yet retained their endothelial identity. However, it could also be possible V^+41^+ cells represent a mixture of individual progenitors of both hematopoietic and endothelial lineages. Therefore, to fulfill the criteria of HEC definition, V^+41^+ cells should possess bipotential progenitors.

In this study, I demonstrated the existence of bipotential progenitors in V^+41^+ cells that generate both EC and HC colonies from a single cell in culture. Bipotential progenitors make up one out of five HC progenitors in the V^+41^+ cell population, which is a relatively high frequency. The real frequency of bipotential progenitors may even be higher than that estimated in this study because some progenitors could potentially take up hematopoietic fate before the first cell division. Such a progenitor is thus could not be counted as bipotential.

Nishikawa *et al.* reported that one out of 18 cells of ESC differentiated Flk-1⁺ VEcadherin⁺ cells produces HCs in the single-cell culture (Nishikawa et al., 1998a). Additionally, one out of 3.6 of those HC progenitors was bipotential, and thus produced coexisting EC and HC colonies from one single progenitor. Although Nishikawa's report described these frequencies by examining the whole VE-cadherin⁺ cell population, the observation appears to be consistent with results in this study. In this study, I found that the hemogenic potential was not evenly distributed in the VE-cadherin⁺ cells. The CD41⁺ subfraction of VE-cadherin⁺ cells almost exclusively contained the hematopoietic and as well as the bipotential progenitors. Therefore, the results suggest that a major portion of VEcadherin⁺ cells, which acquired hematopoietic fate, is endowed with endothelial potential.

Conversely, the EC potential was evenly in the total VE-cadherin⁺ cell population. Both V^+41^+ and V^+41^- cells have similar progenitor frequencies for ECs. The ECs differentiated from V^+41^+ cells may well be bipotential progenitor as well, which would later differentiate to HCs. However, the kinetic study of hematopoietic differentiation in this study showed that almost no delayed increase in the HC frequency. Therefore, the results suggest that ECs derived form V^+41^+ cells were bonafide endothelial cells.

An EC with the capacity to differentiate to HC lineages is considered as HEC. In embryo, the identity of an HEC can be proved by its morphology as well as anatomical location e.g., ventral wall of the dorsal aorta in AGM region. However, such a histological identification is not available for HECs in culture. Therefore, in order to show the endothelial identity of the bipotential progenitors in the V⁺41⁺ population, it is necessary to distinguish them from the immature mesodermal cells, which could be contaminated during cell sorting and identified as a bipotential HEC. In this study, V⁺41⁺ cells were investigated for the expression of *brachyury*, which is a benchmark of mesodermal cells (Fehling et al., 2003). V⁺41⁺ cells were found to express very low level of *brachyury* in the real time PCR analysis compared to the Flk1⁺ mesodermal cells. This data is supported by the immunofluorescence staining analyses, which showed that *brachyury* expression is abundant in the Flk1⁺ cells whereas in V⁺41⁺ cells it was 5 times lower than the frequency of bipotential progenitors. As it has been suggested that in the ESC culture, mesoderm induction and endothelial differentiation occurs sequentially (Hashimoto et al., 2007), a bipotential progenitors of mesodermal origin would not express a meaningful level of VE-cadherin and CD41. The index-sorting analysis in this study traced back and confirmed that the bipotential progenitors express significant level of VE-cadherin and CD41 on their surface. Taken together, I would like to conclude that CD41 expression on VE-cadherin⁺ cells identifies the HEC population in the ESC culture system.

The second question asked in this study was how the bipotential state of HECs is regulated by external signals. The results showed that bipotential progenitors could be further enriched, as they were more concentrated in the CXCR4 expressing fraction of the V⁺41⁺ cells. Although only one fifth of the V⁺41⁺ cells are CXCR4 expressing, more than half of HC progenitors in V⁺41⁺CXCR4⁺ cells possessed the ability to produce EC colonies. Interestingly, the addition of CXCR4 ligand, CXCL12, during ESC differentiation to V⁺41⁺CXCR4⁺ cells reduced the frequency of bipotential progenitors and unipotent EC progenitors in the CXCR4⁺ cell. CXCL12 addition did not influence the frequency of HC progenitors. There are two possible ways to explain this finding. First, The CXCL12-CXCR4 interaction independently regulates the bipotential progenitors are suppresses by the CXCL12, thereby reducing both bipotential progenitors and EC progenitors. Although there is not evidence to distinguish these two possibilities in this study, I prefer the second explanation, as it appears to be more straightforward.



Figure 17: A model of cell fate control in the bipotential hemogenic endothelial cells CD45⁻VE-cadherin⁺CD41⁺CXCR4⁺ cells derived from ESCs represent a hemogenic endothelial cell (HEC) population. HECs encompass the differentiation programs for both the endothelial cell (EC) and hematopoietic cell (HC) lineages within individual cells. A balance between these two programs provides an HEC with a bipotential state that allows the progeny of the cell to differentiate into both ECs and HCs. Fate of the bipotential HECs can be regulated by extrinsic factors. CXCL12/CXCR4 signaling suppresses the EC program independently of the hematopoietic fate. The CXCL12-induced suppression of EC fate makes HECs undetectable as bipotential progenitors.

The effect of CXCL12 on the frequencies of bipotential progenitors and EC progenitors may indicate that CXCL12-CXCR4 interaction inhibits the progenitors from forming EC colonies, which reduces the frequency of these progenitors. However, this possibility is unlikely, as the results showed that EC colony formation was not affected by the addition of CXCL12 after sorting of V⁺41⁺CXCR4⁺. Alternatively, the negative effect of CXCL12 may indicate that CXCL12-CXCR4 interaction abrogates the commitment of bipotential progenitors and unipotent EC progenitors toward endothelial colony-forming cells.

Exogenous addition of CXCL12 was necessary to exert the suppressive effect on the frequencies of bipotential and EC progenitors. Chemical inhibition of the endogenous CXCR4 signaling that is present in the OP9 co-culture by AMD3100 did not affect any of the HC, EC and bipotential progenitor frequencies. This could suggest that endogenous CXCR4 signaling could be bypassed by some other mechanism. Although, CXCR4 is the primary receptor, it has been shown that CXCL12 can also bind receptor CXCR7 (Burns et al., 2006). As AMD3100 is a competitive antagonist of CXCL12 and the inhibitory effect is strictly confined to the CXCR4 (Hatse et al., 2002), this possibility cannot be entirely ruled out. However, there is no known report, which suggest that CXCR7 can rescue the CXCR4

signaling effect on differentiation. Moreover, in this study, the endogenous level of CXCL12 present in the OP9 co-culture of ESC differentiation was in the sub-Nano gram level. Therefore this results may suggest that the endogenous CXCL12 level is low to saturate the CXCR4 receptors thus the effect of inhibition was insignificant.

CXCL12-CXCR4 signaling is known to regulate formation of vascular network during organogenesis such as in the developing gastrointestinal tract and kidney, especially by promoting the remodeling of blood vessels to higher order structures (Tachibana et al., 1998; Takabatake et al., 2009). CXCL12-CXCR4 interaction was shown to regulate the morphology of endothelial tip cells in retinal vascular development at the cellular level (Strasser et al., 2010). Other studies have demonstrated that CXCR4 signaling regulate the migration of ECs during the formation of arteries in regenerating zebrafish fins as well as in the developing mouse limb skin (Xu et al., 2014; Li et al., 2013). To my knowledge, no direct evidence showing the regulation of EC specification and/or differentiation by CXCR4 signaling in the regulation of differentiation of other cell types. CXCR4 signaling upregulate of *MyoD* and *myogenin* expression in the C2C12 myoblast cell line, thereby induce the myogenic differentiation (Melchiona et al., 2010). Oligodendrocyte differentiation and re-myelination in a cuprizone-mediated demyelination model has been shown to be highly dependent on CXCR4 signaling (Patel et al., 2010).

Considering these known regulatory functions in cell differentiation, CXCR4 signaling is also suggested to control the acquisition of endothelial fate of ESC-derived progenitors. The CXCR4 regulation however, acts as suppressive rather than facilitating the EC differentiation. The CXCL12 mediated suppression of EC potential was not specific on the bipotential HECs but also on unipotent EC progenitors. The effect exerted independent of CD41 expression. Therefore, CXCR4 signaling appears to work in a common mechanism in both bipotential HECs and general EC progenitors. The endothelial and hemogenic program is supposed to coexist in equilibrium in a bipotential HEC (Figure 17). From the observations in this study, it can be suggested that endothelial and hemogenic programs can be independently regulated by external signals. CXCL12/CXCR4 signaling down-regulate the endothelial potential (Figure 17). At this point the signaling molecules that are involved in the regulate of maintain the hemogenic potential is not identified and left for future studies.

 V^+41^+ cells equivalent to ESC derived cells were detectable in the yolk sac and embryo proper of mouse embryos from E8.5. V^+41^+ cells from either yolk sac or embryo proper from E8.5, E9.5 and E10.5 contained higher numbers of HC progenitors than ESC-

derived V⁺41⁺ cells. On the other hand, embryonic V⁺41⁺ cells produced smaller EC colonies at a lower frequency with close to no bipotential progenitors compared with ESC-derived counterpart. CXCR4 expression in V⁺41⁺ cells was not detectable before E10.5 and the enrichment of bipotential progenitors was not evident in embryonic V⁺41⁺CXCR4⁺ population. Therefore, despite the common surface markers between the embryonic population and ESC-derived V⁺41⁺ cells, the differentiation potential of the embryonic V⁺41⁺ population is different and suggested to be more biased toward hematopoietic commitment. These characteristics of embryonic V⁺41⁺ cells are consistent with the previous observations (Rybstov et al., 2011).

The external signals regulating the differentiation is important for bipotential progenitors. Eilken *et al.* demonstrated that Flk-1⁺ mesodermal cells isolated from E7.5 mouse embryos and re-cultured on the OP9 cell layer, Flk-1⁺ cells differentiated into HCs by transiting through an intermediate hemogenic endothelial stage (Eilken et al., 2009). In the real-time imaging analysis of the culture, a sheet-like colony of ECs has shown to be generated from primary mesodermal cells. The ECs incorporated acetylated low-density lipoprotein and observed to express CD41. Both CD41⁺ free-floating HCs and CD41⁻ adherent sheet ECs observed to be differentiated from these EC colonies. This observation implies that given the microenvironment provided by the OP9 cell layer, primary mesodermal cells could produce CD41⁺ bipotential HECs in the culture.

It can be assumed that the microenvironment provided by the OP9 stromal cells is responsible for allowing HECs to keep the bipotential state for an extended and detectable period of time. This can possibly explain the relatively high frequency of bipotential HECs observed in ESC-derived V^+41^+ cells. In embryonic microenvironment, however, due to difference in the signaling the bipotential state of embryonic HECs seems to be too transient to detect. The differentiation potential of *in vivo* V^+41^+ cells resembles the CXCL12-induced reduction of bipotential progenitors and EC progenitors in the ESC-derived V^+41^+ cells. This suggests that the EC program must be dominant enough to maintain equilibrium with the HC program so that they can be experimentally identified (Figure 17). It is plausible that the bipotential state in the embryonic environment is very transient and regulated by interplay of several signaling cascades. Whether CXCR4 signaling suppresses the EC potential of the bipotential progenitors, rendering their transient existence is remaining for future studies.

9. Concluding remarks

The first observation of hematopoietic activity in the wall of developing vertebrate aorta was made a century ago (Jordan, 1916; Sabin 1917). Since then a tremendous amount of work has been performed to understand the hematopoietic development from the vasculature. It is now established that hematopoietic and vascular lineages do not segregate until late in embryogenesis. Cells of the definitive hematopoiesis and HSCs are derived from the cells that already acquired endothelial phenotype i.e., HECs. The transition state of HECs when a progenitor has the potential to differentiate in either endothelial or hematopoietic lineage is the bipotential state. The bipotential state of HECs holds the key to the development of HSCs *in vitro*. In this study, the ESC derived CD45⁻CD31⁺ VE-cadherin⁺ CD41⁺ cells are shown as the HECs that contain a substantial total of bipotential progenitors. Bipotential progenitors were further enriched in the CXCR4 expressing fraction of these cells.

The development of HSCs from the HECs is a complex event controlled by a number of different developmental signals. Here I showed that, the hematopoietic and endothelial potential of the ESC derived bipotential HEC progenitors are independently regulated. CXCR4 signaling regulates the endothelial fate by suppressing endothelial potential. Identifying these regulatory signals is important for modulating the HEC differentiation. Further study will be required to reveal the mechanism by which the hematopoietic fate of the bipotential progenitors can be independently regulated. Combination of these mechanisms will allow us to modulate the bipotential HECs and control their differentiation to induce the first transplantable HSCs *in vitro*.

10. References

- Bertrand, J.Y., Chi, N.C., Santoso, B., Teng, S., Stainier, D.Y.R., Traver, D., 2010. Haematopoietic stem cells derive directly from aortic endothelium during development. Nature 464, 108–11. doi:10.1038/nature08738
- Bertrand, J.Y., Giroux, S., Golub, R., Klaine, M., Jalil, A., Boucontet, L., Godin, I., Cumano, A., 2005. Characterization of purified intraembryonic hematopoietic stem cells as a tool to define their site of origin. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 102, 134–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.0402270102
- Boisset, J.-C., van Cappellen, W., Andrieu-Soler, C., Galjart, N., Dzierzak, E., Robin, C., 2010. In vivo imaging of haematopoietic cells emerging from the mouse aortic endothelium. Nature 464, 116–20. doi:10.1038/nature08764
- Bos, F.L., Hawkins, J.S., Zovein, A.C., 2015. Single-cell resolution of morphological changes in hemogenic endothelium. Development (Cambridge, England) 142, 2719–24. doi:10.1242/dev.121350
- Burdon, T., Stracey, C., Chambers, I., Nichols, J., Smith, A., 1999. Suppression of SHP-2 and ERK signalling promotes self-renewal of mouse embryonic stem cells. Developmental Biology 210, 30–43. doi:10.1006/dbio.1999.9265
- Burns, J.M., Summers, B.C., Wang, Y., Melikian, A., Berahovich, R., Miao, Z., Penfold, M.E.T., Sunshine, M.J., Littman, D.R., Kuo, C.J., Wei, K., McMaster, B.E., Wright, K., Maureen C. Howard, and T.J.S., 2006. A novel chemokine receptor for SDF-1 and I-TAC involved in cell survival, cell adhesion, and tumor development. Journal of Experimental Medicine 203, 2201–2213. doi:10.1084/jem.20052144
- Chanda, B., Ditadi, A., Iscove, N.N., Keller, G., 2013. Retinoic acid signaling is essential for embryonic hematopoietic stem cell development. Cell 155, 215–27. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2013.08.055
- Chen, M.J., Yokomizo, T., Zeigler, B.M., Dzierzak, E., Speck, N. a, 2009. Runx1 is required for the endothelial to haematopoietic cell transition but not thereafter. Nature 457, 887–91. doi:10.1038/nature07619
- Choi, K., Kennedy, M., Kazarov, a, Papadimitriou, J.C., Keller, G., 1998. A common precursor for hematopoietic and endothelial cells. Development (Cambridge, England) 125, 725–732.
- Chung, Y.S., Zhang, W.J., Arentson, E., Kingsley, P.D., Palis, J., Choi, K., 2002. Lineage analysis of the hemangioblast as defined by FLK1 and SCL expression. Development (Cambridge, England) 129, 5511–5520. doi:10.1242/dev.00149
- Clarke, R.L., Robitaille, A.M., Moon, R.T., Keller, G., 2015. A quantitative proteomic analysis of hemogenic endothelium reveals differential regulation of hematopoiesis by SOX17. Stem Cell Reports 5, 291–304. doi:10.1016/j.stemcr.2015.07.008
- Corada, M., Orsenigo, F., Morini, M.F., Pitulescu, M.E., Bhat, G., Nyqvist, D., Breviario, F., Conti, V., Briot, A., Iruela-Arispe, M.L., Adams, R.H., Dejana, E., 2013. Sox17 is indispensable for acquisition and maintenance of arterial identity. Nature communications 4, 2609. doi:10.1038/ncomms3609

- Coşkun, S., Chao, H., Vasavada, H., Heydari, K., Gonzales, N., Zhou, X., de Crombrugghe, B., Hirschi, K.K., 2014. Development of the fetal bone marrow niche and regulation of HSC quiescence and homing ability by emerging osteolineage cells. Cell Reports 9, 581– 590. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2014.09.013
- Cumano, A., Ferraz, J.C., Klaine, M., Di Santo, J.P., Godin, I., 2001. Intraembryonic, but not yolk sac hematopoietic precursors, isolated before circulation, provide long-term multilineage reconstitution. Immunity 15, 477–485. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(01)00190-X
- De Bruijn, M.F.T.R., Ma, X., Robin, C., Ottersbach, K., Sanchez, M.J., Dzierzak, E., 2002. Hematopoietic stem cells localize to the endothelial cell layer in the midgestation mouse aorta. Immunity 16, 673–683. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(02)00313-8
- de Pater, E., Kaimakis, P., Vink, C.S., Yokomizo, T., Yamada-Inagawa, T., van der Linden, R., Kartalaei, P.S., Camper, S. a, Speck, N., Dzierzak, E., 2013. Gata2 is required for HSC generation and survival. The Journal of experimental medicine 210, 2843–50. doi:10.1084/jem.20130751
- Dieterlen-Lievre, F., 1975. On the origin of haematopoietic stem cells in the avian embryo: an experimental approach. J Embryol Exp Morphol 33, 607–619.
- Eilken, H.M., Nishikawa, S.-I., Schroeder, T., 2009. Continuous single-cell imaging of blood generation from haemogenic endothelium. Nature 457, 896–900. doi:10.1038/nature07760
- Endoh, M., Ogawa, M., Orkin, S., Nishikawa, S I, 2002. SCL/tal-1-dependent process determines a competence to select the definitive hematopoietic lineage prior to endothelial differentiation. EMBO Journal 21, 6700–6708. doi:10.1093/emboj/cdf674
- Evans, M.J., Kaufman, M.H., 1981. Establishment in culture of pluripotential cells from mouse embryos. Nature. doi:10.1038/292154a0
- Fehling, H.J., Lacaud, G., Kubo, A., Kennedy, M., Robertson, S., Keller, G., Kouskoff, V., 2003. Tracking mesoderm induction and its specification to the hemangioblast during embryonic stem cell differentiation. Development (Cambridge, England) 130, 4217– 4227. doi:10.1242/dev.00589
- Fraser, S.T., Ogawa, M., Yu, R.T., Nishikawa, S., Yoder, M.C., Nishikawa, S.I., 2002. Definitive hematopoietic commitment within the embryonic vascular endothelialcadherin+ population. Experimental Hematology 30, 1070–1078. doi:10.1016/S0301-472X(02)00887-1
- Galloway, J.L., Zon, L.I., 2003. Ontogeny of hematopoiesis: Examining the emergence of hematopoietic cells in the vertebrate embryo, Current Topics in Developmental Biology, Current Topics in Developmental Biology. Elsevier. doi:10.1016/S0070-2153(03)53004-6
- Gao, X., Johnson, K.D., Chang, Y.-I., Boyer, M.E., Dewey, C.N., Zhang, J., Bresnick, E.H., 2013. Gata2 cis-element is required for hematopoietic stem cell generation in the mammalian embryo. The Journal of experimental medicine 210, 2833–42. doi:10.1084/jem.20130733

- Gekas, C., Dieterlen-Lièvre, F., Orkin, S.H., Mikkola, H.K.A., 2005. The placenta is a niche for hematopoietic stem cells. Developmental Cell 8, 365–375. doi:10.1016/j.devcel.2004.12.016
- Godin, I., Dieterlen-Lièvre, F., Cumano, a, 1995. Emergence of multipotent hemopoietic cells in the yolk sac and paraaortic splanchnopleura in mouse embryos, beginning at 8.5 days postcoitus. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 92, 773–777. doi:10.1073/pnas.92.3.773
- Gritz, E., Hirschi, K.K., 2016. Specification and function of hemogenic endothelium during embryogenesis. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences 73, 1547–1567. doi:10.1007/s00018-016-2134-0
- Hadland, B.K., Varnum-finney, B., Poulos, M.G., Moon, R.T., Butler, J.M., Rafii, S., Bernstein, I.D., 2015. Endothelium and NOTCH specify and amplify aorta- gonadmesonephros – derived hematopoietic stem cells. Journal of Clinical Investigation 125, 1–14. doi:10.1172/JCI80137DS1
- Hao, J., Li, T.G., Qi, X., Zhao, D.F., Zhao, G.Q., 2006. WNT/β-catenin pathway up-regulates Stat3 and converges on LIF to prevent differentiation of mouse embryonic stem cells. Developmental Biology 290, 81–91. doi:10.1016/j.ydbio.2005.11.011
- Hashimoto, K., Fujimoto, T., Shimoda, Y., Huang, X., Sakamoto, H., Ogawa, M., 2007. Distinct hemogenic potential of endothelial cells and CD41+ cells in mouse embryos. Development Growth and Differentiation 49, 287–300. doi:10.1111/j.1440-169X.2007.00925.x
- Hatse, S., Princen, K., Bridger, G., Clercq, E. De, Schols, D., 2002. Chemokine receptor inhibition by AMD3100 is strictly con ¢ ned to. Science 527, 0–7.
- Hirota, S., Ogawa, M., 2015. Activin A in Combination with OP9 Cells Facilitates Development of Flk-1+PDGFRα-and Flk-1+PDGFRα+ Hematopoietic Mesodermal Cells from Murine Embryonic Stem Cells. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 467, 583–588. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2015.09.131
- Huber, T.L., Kouskoff, V., Fehling, H.J., Palis, J., Keller, G., 2004. Haemangioblast commitment is initiated in the primitive streak of the mouse embryo. Nature 432, 625–630. doi:10.1038/nature03131.1.
- Iacovino, M., Chong, D., Szatmari, I., Hartweck, L., Rux, D., Caprioli, A., Cleaver, O., Kyba, M., 2011. HoxA3 is an apical regulator of haemogenic endothelium. Nature cell biology 13, 72–78. doi:10.1038/ncb2137
- Jaffredo, T., Gautier, R., Eichmann, A., Dieterlen-Lièvre, F., 1998. Intraaortic Hemopoietic Cells are Derived from Endothelial Cells During Ontogeny. Development 125, 4575– 4583. doi:10.1016/j.tcm.2006.02.005
- Jaffredo, T., Nottingham, W., Liddiard, K., Bollerot, K., Pouget, C., De Bruijn, M., 2005. From hemangioblast to hematopoietic stem cell: An endothelial connection? Experimental Hematology 33, 1029–1040. doi:10.1016/j.exphem.2005.06.005
- Jang, I.H., Lu, Y., Zhao, L., Wenzel, P.L., Kume, T., Datta, S.M., Arora, N., Guiu, J., Lagha, M., Kim, P.G., Do, E.K., Kim, J.H., Schlaeger, T.M., Zon, L.I., Bigas, A., Burns, C.E., Daley, G.Q., 2015. Notch1 acts via Foxc2 to promote definitive hematopoiesis via

effects on hemogenic endothelium. Blood 125, 1418–1427. doi:10.1182/blood-2014-04-568170.I.H.J.

- Jordan, H.E., 1916. Evidence of hemogenic capacity of endothelium. The Anatomical Record 10, 417–420. doi:10.1002/ar.1090100508
- Keller, G.M., 1995. In vitro differentiation of embryonic stem cells. Current Opinion in Cell Biology 7, 862–869. doi:10.1016/0955-0674(95)80071-9
- Kennedy, M., Firpo, M., Choi, K., Wall, C., Robertson, S., Kabrun, N., Keller, G., 1997. A common precursor for primitive erythropoiesis and definitive haematopoiesis. Nature. doi:10.1038/386488a0
- Kiel, M.J., Yilmaz, Ömer H., Iwashita, T., Yilmaz, O.H., Terhorst, C., Morrison, S.J., 2005. SLAM family receptors distinguish hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells and reveal endothelial niches for stem cells. Cell 121, 1109–1121. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2005.026
- Kissa, K., Herbomel, P., 2010. Blood stem cells emerge from aortic endothelium by a novel type of cell transition. Nature 464, 112–5. doi:10.1038/nature08761
- Kodama H, Nose M, Niida S, Nishikawa S, N.S., 1994. Involvement of the c-kit receptor in the adhesion of hematopoietic stem cells to stromal PubMed Commons. Experimental hematology 22, 979–984. doi:7522185
- Kumaravelu, P., Hook, L., Morrison, A.M., Ure, J., Zhao, S., Zuyev, S., Ansell, J., Medvinsky, A., 2002. Quantitative developmental anatomy of definitive haematopoietic stem cells/long-term repopulating units (HSC/RUs): role of the aorta-gonadmesonephros (AGM) region and the yolk sac in colonisation of the mouse embryonic liver. Development (Cambridge, England) 129, 4891–4899.
- Lai, L., Bohnsack, B.L., Niederreither, K., Hirschi, K.K., 2003. Retinoic acid regulates endothelial cell proliferation during vasculogenesis. Development (Cambridge, England) 130, 6465–6474. doi:10.1242/dev.00887
- Lam, E.Y.N., Hall, C.J., Crosier, P.S., Crosier, K.E., Flores, M.V., 2010. Live imaging of Runx1 expression in the dorsal aorta tracks the emergence of blood progenitors from endothelial cells. Blood 116, 909–914. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-01-264382
- Lancrin, C., Mazan, M., Stefanska, M., Patel, R., Lichtinger, M., Costa, G., Vargel, O., Wilson, N.K., Moroyy, T., Bonifer, C., Gottgens, B., Kouskoff, V., Lacaud, G., 2012. GFI1 and GFI1B control the loss of endothelial identity of hemogenic endothelium during hematopoietic commitment. Blood 120, 314–322. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-10-386094
- Lancrin, C., Sroczynska, P., Stephenson, C., Allen, T., Kouskoff, V., Lacaud, G., 2009. The haemangioblast generates haematopoietic cells through a haemogenic endothelium stage. Nature 457, 892–895. doi:10.1038/nature07679
- Lee, D., Park, C., Lee, H., Lugus, J.J., Kim, S.H., Arentson, E., Chung, Y.S., Gomez, G., Kyba, M., Lin, S., Janknecht, R., Lim, D.S., Choi, K., 2008. ER71 Acts Downstream of BMP, Notch, and Wnt Signaling in Blood and Vessel Progenitor Specification. Cell Stem Cell 2, 497–507. doi:10.1016/j.stem.2008.03.008
- Li, W., Kohara, H., Uchida, Y., James, J.M., Soneji, K., Cronshaw, D.G., Zou, Y.R., Nagasawa, T., Mukouyama, Y. suke, 2013. Peripheral nerve-derived CXCL12 and

VEGF-A regulate the patterning of arterial vessel branching in developing limb skin. Developmental Cell 24, 359–371. doi:10.1016/j.devcel.2013.01.009

- Liakhovitskaia, A., Rybtsov, S., Smith, T., Batsivari, A., Rybtsova, N., Rode, C., de Bruijn, M., Buchholz, F., Gordon-Keylock, S., Zhao, S., Medvinsky, A., 2014. Runx1 is required for progression of CD41+ embryonic precursors into HSCs but not prior to this. Development (Cambridge, England) 141, 3319–23. doi:10.1242/dev.110841
- Marcelo, K., Sills, T., Coskun, S., Vasavada, H., Sanglikar, S., Goldie, L., Hirschi, K., 2013. Hemogenic endothelial cell specification requires c-Kit, notch signaling, and p27mediated cell-cycle control. Developmental Cell 27, 504–515. doi:10.1016/j.devcel.2013.11.004
- Martin, G.R., 1981. Isolation of a pluripotent cell line from early mouse embryos cultured in medium conditioned by teratocarcinoma stem cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 78, 7634–7638. doi:10.1073/pnas.78.12.7634
- Masui, S., Nakatake, Y., Toyooka, Y., Shimosato, D., Yagi, R., Takahashi, K., Okochi, H., Okuda, A., Matoba, R., Sharov, A.A., Ko, M.S.H., Niwa, H., 2007. Pluripotency governed by Sox2 via regulation of Oct3/4 expression in mouse embryonic stem cells. Nat Cell Biol 9, 625–U26. doi:Doi 10.1038/Ncb1589
- Matsubara, A., Iwama, A., Yamazaki, S., Furuta, C., Hirasawa, R., Morita, Y., Osawa, M., Motohashi, T., Eto, K., Ema, H., Kitamura, T., Vestweber, D., Nakauchi, H., 2005. Endomucin, a CD34-like sialomucin, marks hematopoietic stem cells throughout development. The Journal of experimental medicine 202, 1483–1492. doi:10.1084/jem.20051325
- Matsuda, T., Nakamura, T., Nakao, K., Arai, T., Katsuki, M., Heike, T., Yokota, T., 1999. STAT3 activation is sufficient to maintain an undifferentiated state of mouse embryonic stem cells. EMBO Journal 18, 4261–4269. doi:10.1093/emboj/18.15.4261
- McGrath, K.E., Koniski, A.D., Malik, J., Palis, J., 2003. Circulation is established in a stepwise pattern in the mammalian embryo. Blood 101, 1669–1676. doi:10.1182/blood-2002-08-2531
- Medvinsky, A., Dzierzak, E., 1996. Definitive hematopoiesis is autonomously initiated by the AGM region. Cell 86, 897–906. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80165-8
- Medvinsky, A., Rybtsov, S., Taoudi, S., 2011. Embryonic origin of the adult hematopoietic system: advances and questions. Development 138, 1017–31. doi:10.1242/dev.040998
- Medvinsky, A.L., Samoylina, N.L., Müller, A.M., Dzierzak, E.A., 1993. An early pre-liver intraembryonic source of CFU-S in the developing mouse. Nature 364, 64–67. doi:10.1038/364064a0
- Melchionna, R., Di Carlo, A., De Mori, R., Cappuzzello, C., Barberi, L., Musarò, A., Cencioni, C., Fujii, N., Tamamura, H., Crescenzi, M., Capogrossi, M.C., Napolitano, M., Germani, A., 2010. Induction of myogenic differentiation by SDF-1 via CXCR4 and CXCR7 receptors. Muscle and Nerve 41, 828–835. doi:10.1002/mus.21611
- Mikkola, H.K.A., Fujiwara, Y., Schlaeger, T.M., Traver, D., Orkin, S.H., 2003. Expression of CD41 marks the initiation of definitive hematopoiesis in the mouse embryo. Blood 101, 508–516. doi:10.1182/blood-2002-06-1699

- Mikkola, H.K.A., Orkin, S.H., 2006. The journey of developing hematopoietic stem cells. Development 133, 3733–3744. doi:10.1242/dev.02568
- Mitsui, K., Tokuzawa, Y., Itoh, H., Segawa, K., Murakami, M., Takahashi, K., Maruyama, M., Maeda, M., Yamanaka, S., 2003. The homeoprotein nanog is required for maintenance of pluripotency in mouse epiblast and ES cells. Cell 113, 631–642. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(03)00393-3
- Morrison, S.J., Hemmati, H.D., Wandycz, A.M., Weissman, I.L., 1995. The purification and characterization of fetal liver hematopoietic stem cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 92, 10302–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.92.22.10302
- Motoike, T., Markham, D.W., Rossant, J., Sato, T.N., 2003. Evidence for novel fate of Flk1+ progenitor: Contribution to muscle lineage. Genesis 35, 153–159. doi:10.1002/gene.10175
- Murray, P.D.F., 1932. The Development in vitro of the Blood of the Early Chick Embryo. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences 111, 497–521.
- Nakano, T., Kodama, H., Honjo, T., 1994. Generation of lymphohematopoietic cells from embryonic stem cells in culture. Science (New York, N.Y.) 265, 1098–1101. doi:10.1126/science.8066449
- Ng, C.E.L., Yokomizo, T., Yamashita, N., Cirovic, B., Jin, H., Wen, Z., Ito, Y., Osato, M., 2010. A Runx1 intronic enhancer marks hemogenic endothelial cells and hematopoietic stem cells. Stem Cells 28, 1869–1881. doi:10.1002/stem.507
- Nishikawa, S.I., Nishikawa, S., Hirashima, M., Matsuyoshi, N., Kodama, H., 1998a. Progressive lineage analysis by cell sorting and culture identifies FLK1+VE-cadherin+ cells at a diverging point of endothelial and hemopoietic lineages. Development (Cambridge, England) 125, 1747–1757.
- Nishikawa, S.I., Nishikawa, S., Kawamoto, H., Yoshida, H., Kizumoto, M., Kataoka, H., Katsura, Y., 1998b. In vitro generation of lymphohematopoietic cells from endothelial cells purified from murine embryos. Immunity 8, 761–769. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80581-6
- Niwa, H., Burdon, T., Chambers, I., Smith, a, 1998. Self-renewal of pluripotent embryonic stem cells is mediated via activation of STAT3. Genes & development 12, 2048–2060. doi:10.1101/gad.12.13.2048
- Niwa, H., Miyazaki, J., Smith, A.G., 2000. Quantitative expression of Oct-3/4 defines differentiation, dedifferentiation or self-renewal of ES cells. Nature genetics 24, 372–376. doi:10.1038/74199
- North, T.E., De Bruijn, M.F.T.R., Stacy, T., Talebian, L., Lind, E., Robin, C., Binder, M., Dzierzak, E., Speck, N.A., 2002. Runx1 expression marks long-term repopulating hematopoietic stem cells in the midgestation mouse embryo. Immunity 16, 661–672. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(02)00296-0
- Ogawa, K., Nishinakamura, R., Iwamatsu, Y., Shimosato, D., Niwa, H., 2006. Synergistic action of Wnt and LIF in maintaining pluripotency of mouse ES cells. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 343, 159–166. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2006.02.127

- Ogawa, M., Kizumoto, M., Nishikawa, S., Fujimoto, T., Kodama, H., Nishikawa, S.I., 1999. Expression of alpha4-integrin defines the earliest precursor of hematopoietic cell lineage diverged from endothelial cells. Blood 93, 1168–1177.
- Ogawa, M., Matsuzaki, Y., Nishikawa, S., Hayashi, S., Kunisada, T., Sudo, T., Kina, T., Nakauchi, H., 1991. Expression and function of c-kit in hemopoietic progenitor cells. The Journal of experimental medicine 174, 63–71. doi:10.1084/jem.174.1.63
- Ogawa, M., Tajima, F., Ito, T., Sato, T., Laver, J.H., Deguchi, T., 2006. CD34 Expression by Murine Hematopoietic Stem Cells. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 938, 139–145. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2001.tb03583.x
- Okada, H., Watanabe, T., Niki, M., Takano, H., Chiba, N., Yanai, N., Tani, K., Hibino, H., Asano, S., Mucenski, M.L., Ito, Y., Noda, T., Satake, M., 1998. AML1(-/-) embryos do not express certain hematopoiesis-related gene transcripts including those of the PU.1 gene. Oncogene 17, 2287–2293. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1202151
- Okuda, T., Van Deursen, J., Hiebert, S.W., Grosveld, G., Downing, J.R., 1996. AML1, the target of multiple chromosomal translocations in human leukemia, is essential for normal fetal liver hematopoiesis. Cell 84, 321–330. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80986-1
- Palis, J., Chan, R.J., Koniski, a, Patel, R., Starr, M., Yoder, M.C., 2001. Spatial and temporal emergence of high proliferative potential hematopoietic precursors during murine embryogenesis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 98, 4528–4533. doi:10.1073/pnas.071002398
- Palis, J., Robertson, S., Kennedy, M., Wall, C., Keller, G., 1999. Development of erythroid and myeloid progenitors in the yolk sac and embryo proper of the mouse. Development (Cambridge, England) 126, 5073–5084.
- Palis, J., Yoder, M.C., 2001. Yolk-sac hematopoiesis: The first blood cells of mouse and man. Experimental Hematology 29, 927–936. doi:10.1016/S0301-472X(01)00669-5
- Patel, J.R., McCandless, E.E., Dorsey, D., Klein, R.S., 2010. CXCR4 promotes differentiation of oligodendrocyte progenitors and remyelination. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 107, 11062–11067. doi:10.1073/pnas.1006301107
- Ruiz-Herguido, C., Guiu, J., D'Altri, T., Inglés-Esteve, J., Dzierzak, E., Espinosa, L., Bigas, A., 2012. Hematopoietic stem cell development requires transient Wnt/β-catenin activity. The Journal of experimental medicine 209, 1457–68. doi:10.1084/jem.20120225
- Rybtsov, S., Batsivari, A., Bilotkach, K., Paruzina, D., Senserrich, J., Nerushev, O., Medvinsky, A., 2014. Tracing the origin of the HSC hierarchy reveals an SCFdependent, IL-3-independent CD43- embryonic precursor. Stem Cell Reports 3, 489– 501. doi:10.1016/j.stemcr.2014.07.009
- Rybtsov, S., Sobiesiak, M., Taoudi, S., Souilhol, C., Senserrich, J., Liakhovitskaia, A., Ivanovs, A., Frampton, J., Zhao, S., Medvinsky, A., 2011. Hierarchical organization and early hematopoietic specification of the developing HSC lineage in the AGM region. The Journal of experimental medicine 208, 1305–1315. doi:10.1084/jem.20102419
- Sabin, F.R., 1917. Classic Report in Hematotherapy Editor 's Note : Preliminary Note on the Differentiation of Angioblasts and the Method by Which They Produce Blood-Vessels ,. The Anatomical Record 13, 5–7.

- Sattler, M., Salgia, R., 2004. Targeting c-Kit mutations: Basic science to novel therapies. Leukemia Research 28. doi:10.1016/j.leukres.2003.10.004
- Schulz, C., Perdiguero, E.G., Chorro, L., Szabo-rogers, H., Pollard, J.W., Frampton, J., Liu, K.J., Geissmann, F., 2012. A Lineage of Myeloid Cells independent of Myb and Hematopoietic Stem Cells. Science 336, 86–90. doi:10.1126/science.1219179
- Seita, J., Weissman, I.L., 2010. Hematopoietic stem cell: Self-renewal versus differentiation. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Systems Biology and Medicine 2, 640–653. doi:10.1002/wsbm.86
- Seo, S., Fujita, H., Nakano, A., Kang, M., Duarte, A., Kume, T., 2006. The forkhead transcription factors, Foxc1 and Foxc2, are required for arterial specification and lymphatic sprouting during vascular development. Developmental Biology 294, 458–470. doi:10.1016/j.ydbio.2006.03.035
- Smith, A.G., 2001. Embryo Derived Stem Cells: Of Mice and Men. Cell 17, 435–62. doi:10.1146/annurev.cellbio.17.1.435
- Strasser, G.A., Kaminker, J.S., Tessier-Lavigne, M., 2010. Microarray analysis of retinal endothelial tip cells identifies CXCR4 as a mediator of tip cell morphology and branching. Blood 115, 5102–5110. doi:10.1182/blood-2009-07-230284
- Swiers, G., Rode, C., Azzoni, E., De Bruijn, M.F.T.R., 2013. A short history of hemogenic endothelium. Blood Cells, Molecules, and Diseases 51, 206–212. doi:10.1016/j.bcmd.2013.09.005
- Tachibana, K., Hirota, S., Iizasa, H., Yoshida, H., Kawabata, K., Kataoka, Y., Kitamura, Y., Matsushima, K., Yoshida, N., Nishikawa, S., Kishimoto, T., Nagasawa, T., 1998. The chemokine receptor CXCR4 is essential for vascularization of the gastrointestinal tract. Nature 393, 591–594. doi:10.1038/31261
- Takabatake, Y., Sugiyama, T., Kohara, H., Matsusaka, T., Kurihara, H., Koni, P. a, Nagasawa, Y., Hamano, T., Matsui, I., Kawada, N., Imai, E., Nagasawa, T., Rakugi, H., Isaka, Y., 2009. The CXCL12 (SDF-1)/CXCR4 axis is essential for the development of renal vasculature. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : JASN 20, 1714–1723. doi:10.1681/ASN.2008060640
- Takakura, N., Watanabe, T., Suenobu, S., Yamada, Y., Noda, T., Ito, Y., Satake, M., Suda, T., 2000. A role for hematopoietic stem cells in promoting angiogenesis. Cell 102, 199–209. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(00)00025-8
- Taoudi, S., Morrison, A.M., Inoue, H., Gribi, R., Ure, J., Medvinsky, A., 2005. Progressive divergence of definitive haematopoietic stem cells from the endothelial compartment does not depend on contact with the foetal liver. Development (Cambridge, England) 132, 4179–4191. doi:10.1242/dev.01974
- Van Handel, B., Montel-Hagen, A., Sasidharan, R., Nakano, H., Ferrari, R., Boogerd, C.J., Schredelseker, J., Wang, Y., Hunter, S., Org, T., Zhou, J., Li, X., Pellegrini, M., Chen, J.N., Orkin, S.H., Kurdistani, S.K., Evans, S.M., Nakano, A., Mikkola, H.K.A., 2012. Scl represses cardiomyogenesis in prospective hemogenic endothelium and endocardium. Cell 150, 590–605. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2012.06.026
- Wang, Q., Stacy, T., Binder, M., Marin-Padilla, M., Sharpe, A.H., Speck, N.A., 1996. Disruption of the Cbfa2 gene causes necrosis and hemorrhaging in the central nervous

system and blocks definitive hematopoiesis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 93, 3444–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.93.8.3444

- Wareing, S., Eliades, A., Lacaud, G., Kouskoff, V., 2012. ETV2 expression marks blood and endothelium precursors, including hemogenic endothelium, at the onset of blood development. Developmental Dynamics 241, 1454–1464. doi:10.1002/dvdy.23825
- Williams, R.L., Hilton, D.J., Pease, S., Willson, T. a, Stewart, C.L., Gearing, D.P., Wagner, E.F., Metcalf, D., Nicola, N. a, Gough, N.M., 1988. Myeloid leukaemia inhibitory factor maintains the developmental potential of embryonic stem cells. Nature 336, 684–687. doi:10.1038/336684a0
- Xu, C., Hasan, S.S., Schmidt, I., Rocha, S.F., Pitulescu, M.E., Bussmann, J., Meyen, D., Raz, E., Adams, R.H., Siekmann, A.F., 2014. Arteries are formed by vein-derived endothelial tip cells. Nature communications 5, 5758. doi:10.1038/ncomms6758
- Yagi, T., Tokunaga, T., Furuta, Y., Nada, S., Yoshida, M., Tsukada, T., Saga, Y., Takeda, N., Ikawa, Y., Aizawa, S., 1993. A Novel ES Cell Line, TT2, with High Germline-Differentiating Potency. Analytical Biochemistry 214, 70–76. doi:10.1006/abio.1993.1458
- Ying, Q.L., Nichols, J., Chambers, I., Smith, A., 2003. BMP induction of Id proteins suppresses differentiation and sustains embryonic stem cell self-renewal in collaboration with STAT3. Cell 115, 281–292. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(03)00847-X
- Yoder, M.C., 2014. Inducing definitive hematopoiesis in a dish. Nature Biotechnology 32, 539–541. doi:10.1038/nbt.2929
- Yokomizo, T., Ogawa, M., Osato, M., Kanno, T., Yoshida, H., Fujimoto, T., Fraser, S., Nishikawa, S., Okada, H., Satake, M., Noda, T., Nishikawa, S., Ito, Y., 2001. Requirement of Runx1/AML1/PEBP2alphaB for the generation of haematopoietic cells from endothelial cells. Genes to cells: devoted to molecular & cellular mechanisms 6, 13–23. doi:gtc393 [pii]
- Yoshimoto, M., Porayette, P., Glosson, N.L., Conway, S.J., Carlesso, N., Cardoso, A.A., Kaplan, M.H., Yoder, M.C., 2012. Autonomous murine T-cell progenitor production in the extra-embryonic yolk sac before HSC emergence. Blood 119, 5706–5714. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-12-397489
- Zhang, Y., Jin, H., Li, L., Qin, F.X.F., Wen, Z., 2011. cMyb regulates hematopoietic stem/progenitor cell mobilization during zebrafish hematopoiesis. Blood 118, 4093–4101. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-03-342501
- Zovein, A.C., Hofmann, J.J., Lynch, M., French, W.J., Turlo, K.A., Yang, Y., Becker, M.S., Zanetta, L., Dejana, E., Gasson, J.C., Tallquist, M.D., Iruela-Arispe, M.L., 2008. Fate Tracing Reveals the Endothelial Origin of Hematopoietic Stem Cells. Cell Stem Cell 3, 625–636. doi:10.1016/j.stem.2008.09.018